Institutional signals of inclusion: Increasing perceptions of possibilities available for the self and others in STEM

By

Rebecca Anderson

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Master of Arts

Faculty of Social Sciences, Brock University St. Catharines, Ontario

© Rebecca Anderson, 2023

Abstract

Women in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Math (STEM) face systemic barriers due to the prominent masculine culture that has been established within the field. The present research aims to examine strategies for improving the experiences of women in STEM by exploring the benefits that institutional signals of inclusion can have on perceptions of what is possible for the self and others at work. Across four studies, participants were randomly assigned to one of two conditions where we manipulated the extent to which the company policies at a fictitious technology development company were gender-inclusive. Studies 1 through 3 assessed the impact of gender-inclusive policies on beliefs regarding how possible the work culture of the described organization would make it to behave inclusively (Study 1), be your authentic self (Study 2), and achieve professional goals (Study 3). Results revealed that gender-inclusive policies led individuals to anticipate a warmer interpersonal climate and possess a stronger belief that it would be possible to behave in an inclusive manner, authentically express themselves, and achieve professional goals. In Study 4, participants rated their preferences between job candidates and selected who they would hire for a position in STEM from an array of candidate profiles. The findings demonstrated that gender-inclusive policies result in a significant preference for qualified women candidates and increase the likelihood of hiring qualified women in STEM. This research suggests strategies to improve experiences in STEM by expanding perceptions of what is possible for the self and others in male-dominated domains.

Table of Contents

Abstractii
List of Tablesv
List of Figuresvi
Introduction1
Cultural Climate in STEM3
Consequences of Masculine Culture in STEM7
Cultivating Positive Workplace Culture
Implications of Institutional Signals of Inclusion11
Present Research14
Study 116
Methods16
Results20
Study 2
Methods26
Results
Study 335
Methods35
Results
Interim Discussion
Study 444
Methods44
Results47

Discussion	55
Limitations and Future Directions5	57
Conclusion	61
References	53
Appendices	73

List of Tables

Table 1. Sample Demographic Information Study 1	17
Table 2. Study 1 Descriptive Statistics and Correlations of Key Variables	20
Table 3. Mediation Model for Study 1	25
Table 4. Sample Demographic Information Study 2	27
Table 5. Study 2 Descriptive Statistics and Correlations of Key Variables	29
Table 6. Moderated Mediation Model for Study 2	34
Table 7. Sample Demographic Information Study 3	36
Table 8. Study 3 Descriptive Statistics and Correlations of Key Variables	38
Table 9. Mediation Model for Study 3	43
Table 10. Sample Demographic Information Study 4	45
Table 11. Study 4 Descriptive Statistics and Correlations of Key Variables	48
Table 12. Mediation Model for Study 4	54
Table 13. Moderated Mediation Model for Study 1	89
Table 14. Moderated Mediation Model for Study 3	92
Table 15. Moderated Mediation Model for Study 4	94
Table 16. Participants' Country of Residence	96

List of Figures

Figure 1. Study 1 Manipulation Check21
Figure 2. Study 1 Effect of Condition on Perceptions of Interpersonal Norms
Figure 3. Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility for Inclusive Behaviour23
Figure 4. Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility for Inclusive Behaviour via
Interpersonal Norms
Figure 5. Study 2 Manipulation Check
Figure 6. Study 2 Effect of Condition on Perceptions of Interpersonal Norms
Figure 7. Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility for Authentic Self-Expression by
Gender
Figure 8. Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility for Authentic Self-
Expression via Interpersonal Norms Moderated by Gender
Figure 9. Study 3 Manipulation Check
Figure 10. Study 3 Effect of Condition on Perceptions of Interpersonal Norms40
Figure 11. Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility for Achieving Professional
Goals
Figure 12. Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility of Achieving Professional
Goals via Interpersonal Norms
Figure 13. Study 4 Manipulation Check

Figure 14. Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Perceptions of Interpersonal Norms by
Gender
Figure 15. Effect of Condition on Candidate Preference
Figure 16. The Effect of Condition on Probability of Hiring a Qualified Female Candidate52
Figure 17. Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Candidate Preferences via
Interpersonal Norms
Figure 18. Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Final Hiring Selection via
Interpersonal Norms
Figure 19. Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility for Inclusive Behaviour via
Interpersonal Norms Moderated by Gender
Figure 20. Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility of Achieving Professional
Goals via Interpersonal Norms Moderated by Gender92
Figure 21. Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Candidate Preferences via
Interpersonal Norms Moderated by Gender93
Figure 22. Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Final Hiring Selection via
Interpersonal Norms Moderated by Gender

Introduction

Pursuing a career in Science, Technology, Engineering, or Math (STEM) presents as an especially lucrative opportunity given the rapid, ongoing development of the field (Ferguson, 2016; Frank, 2019). With the abundance of high-quality job opportunities available within STEM, and the increasing technological advancements within our society, the value and profitability this industry brings is quite evident. However, despite a promising job market, the STEM sector consistently fails to attract and retain qualified women (Fouad et al., 2019; van Veelen et al., 2019). Research has found that men are twice as likely to earn a degree in STEM than women, and female STEM graduates are significantly less likely to pursue a career in their discipline (Ferguson, 2016; Frank, 2019; van Veelen et al., 2019). The underrepresentation of women in STEM is further demonstrated by recent statistics from the National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics (2023) that found that women make up roughly half (48%) of the total workforce in the United States; however, they only account for approximately one third (35%) of the workers in STEM. Things are much worse when examining specific sectors within STEM such as computer science and engineering where women make up only 25 and 16 percent, respectively (National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics, 2023).

There is evidence to suggest that the gender disparity in STEM may be attributed to the current cultural climate of the field or, more specifically, the masculine workplace culture commonly found in STEM organizations (Cheryan et al., 2017). Workplace culture is shaped by the social environment and can be defined as a socially constructed set of values, beliefs, or attitudes held by the individuals of a particular organization that shape the norms and behaviours within that given workplace (Cole et al., 2014; Manley et al., 2011). Cheryan and colleagues (2017) conceptualized masculine culture as "features of a field (e.g., beliefs, norms, values,

1

structures, interactions) that can cause women to feel a lower sense of belonging than their male counterparts" (p. 6). Organizations characterized by masculine culture often lack positive female role models (e.g., successful women in leadership roles) and are permeated by stereotypes that do not reflect the way many women typically view themselves (Cheryan et al., 2017). For example, people in computer science are stereotyped to be socially awkward, and highly interested in science fiction and technology (Cheryan et al., 2017). While men are generally attracted to these more masculine stereotypes, women are often deterred by them as they do not fit with their sense of self (Cheryan et al., 2017).

The STEM industry is dominated by men, and organizations within this field evidently place great value on masculine characteristics and behaviour (Berdahl et al., 2018; Cheryan & Markus, 2020). As a result, a prominent masculine culture has been established, leading women to face systemic barriers in the field. Women are frequently met with gender bias, unfair and differential treatment, and discrimination while pursuing or working in a career in STEM (Hughes et al., 2022; Rosser & Lane, 2002; Schmader, 2022; Seron et al., 2015). Because of this, women have pessimistic expectations about their trajectory in STEM (Cadaret et al., 2017; Seron et al., 2015) and often choose to avoid or leave STEM to pursue opportunities in other domains that respect and value their contributions (Fouad et al., 2017; Schmader & Sedikides, 2017).

To promote success, achievement, and satisfaction in STEM, organizations must work to remove the barriers hindering women's advancement in the field by fostering a culture that is characterized by acceptance and inclusion. Previous work has suggested that inclusion can be signaled at the institutional level by establishing inclusive workplace policies and practices (Hall et al., 2022; Schmader et al., 2020). These policies and practices may serve as a resource that team leaders or employees can look to for guidance regarding what is valued, accepted and

normative within the organization. In other words, they may serve as a cue to the social norms that are present within the company and offer insight and direction into how one should behave and engage while at work.

Though research has been conducted on the impact of signals of inclusion on subjective experiences at work (Hall et al., 2018, 2021), the literature is missing a discussion of the impact that institutional signals of inclusion can have on perceptions of what is possible for the self and others at work. By expanding perceptions of what is possible for the self and others, individuals can anticipate greater opportunities and success at work by envisioning an organizational culture that supports and encourages positive behaviours. Anticipating an ideal workplace culture and expanding perceptions of the possibilities available within that context can provide benefits in the present moment by shaping current attitudes and behaviours to align with these positive future ideals (Iyer et al., 2017). As such, the present research aims to expand upon the existing research on inclusive workplace culture by examining the benefits that institutional signals of inclusion can have on individuals' sense of what they can do or what they perceive to be possible for themselves and others in male-dominated domains. In conducting this work, we hope to explore strategies that help to expand perceptions of the opportunities available for individuals belonging to marginalized groups. These strategies could help to create environments where women and other individuals belonging to marginalized groups can feel accepted and valued in their place of work and truly thrive.

Cultural Climate in STEM

The STEM field is permeated with broader, more structural forms of bias that privilege individuals belonging to dominant groups and hinder the advancement and success of those belonging to gender or, racial or ethnic minorities (Dancy et al., 2020; Thoman et al., 2014). The

culture within STEM often reflects atmospheres and environments dominated by White men and biased by masculine stereotypes (Berdahl et al., 2018; Cheryan & Markus, 2020). Masculine *defaults* is a term used by academics to describe these forms of bias commonly found in majority-male industries where traits or behaviours linked to the male gender-role are considered normative, standard, or essential within that particular context, and thus, are more appreciated and valued (Cheryan & Markus, 2020). Masculine defaults can refer to any values, policies, practices, or norms in an organization that may not appear to discriminate against women; however, closer examination shows that more traditionally masculine ways of being are rewarded and privileged. An example of this would be organizations that emphasize meritocracy when hiring or promoting candidates. Although the choice to hire the best, most intelligent and competent candidate does not seem discriminatory towards women, making hiring decisions based on merit places women at a strong disadvantage. Candidates who are viewed as the strongest or best applicants tend to be independent, confident, assertive, and dominant - all traits that are more typically associated with men (Cheryan & Markus, 2020). Therefore, when organizations emphasize merit in the hiring or promotional process, men often come out on top. Organizations in STEM are often structured around masculine defaults, making it difficult for women to enter and succeed in the field (Cheryan & Markus, 2020).

Further, researchers have coined the term *masculinity contest culture* to describe organizations entrenched with masculine defaults, specifically those that value and reward highly competitive and dominating behaviour to gain or demonstrate higher status at work (Berdahl et al., 2018; Matos et al., 2018). Although it is thought that highly competitive environments create greater efficiency and productivity, research demonstrates the opposite. Cultures characterized by dominance and competition lead to disengagement at work resulting in greater absenteeism,

and significantly more accidents and errors (Seppälä & Cameron, 2015). Along with being highly competitive, the culture in STEM also places greater emphasis on individual success and achievement (Thoman et al., 2014). Masculinity contest cultures emphasize self-interest and augmenting personal status above the collective goals of the organization (Cheryan & Markus, 2017). Documentation from Susan Fowler, a former engineer at Uber, illustrates the negative implications of masculinity contest cultures by demonstrating that prioritizing personal status can negatively impact the organization by disrupting business (Berdahl et al., 2018). In a blog post, Fowler reported working alongside colleagues who intentionally withheld critical business information from managers and supervisors in an attempt to sabotage their position within the company to augment their own personal status. This emphasis on self-interest and gaining status within the work culture can evidently have negative consequences for organizations. Moreover, the individualistic nature of STEM culture often deters women who are generally oriented toward work environments that afford more communal goals (Diekman et al., 2018).

Another notable aspect of the STEM culture pertains to its tendency to attribute success within the field to innate intelligence and brilliance (Canning et al., 2019; Leslie et al., 2015; Meyer et al., 2015; Vial et al., 2022). This orientation toward innate genius or brilliance within the field can vastly deter women or other individuals belonging to marginalized groups from pursuing careers in this domain. The belief that some individuals "have it" while others do not, perpetuates negative group stereotypes, undermines success, and decreases interest in the field for those belonging to marginalized groups (Canning et al., 2019; Meyer et al., 2015). Further, past research found that faculty members who possess a fixed mindset in relation to intellectual ability in STEM, that is the belief that intelligence cannot be changed or developed, led to the underperformance of underrepresented minorities in STEM courses (Canning et al., 2019).

Stereotypes relating to intellectual ability suggest that White and Asian men possess an innate aptitude for STEM (Canning et al., 2019; Leslie et al., 2015). The pervasive cultural stereotype that men are inherently intelligent and talented, while women fail to possess such innate ability, greatly impacts women's desire and attraction toward STEM (Meyer et al., 2015).

The current cultural climate in STEM is especially problematic for women, who are stereotyped to be inherently less competent and intellectual than men, and socialized to refrain from exerting agency or demonstrating behaviours that are typically associated with being a man, and penalized if they do so (Heilman, 2001; Leslie et al., 2015; Lombard et al., 2021; Rudman & Glick, 2001; Rudman et al., 2012). Although interventions have been created to address the bias, prejudice, and discrimination commonly found within STEM organizations (Dover et al., 2019), these diversity structures are often superficial or disingenuously implemented (e.g., exaggerating diversity in recruitment advertisements; Kroeper et al., 2020). As a result, these seemingly wellintentioned interventions can at times have negative consequences or be met with resistance (Brady et al., 2015; Dover et al., 2019; Kaiser et al., 2013; Kirby et al., 2015; Kroeper et al., 2020; Leslie, 2019; Van den Brink & Stobbe, 2014). For example, researchers have found that when people are asked to think about an organization that implements diversity training programs (vs. general managerial training programs), individuals perceive the company as more procedurally fair; however, this resulted in participants demonstrating decreased support for sexism-related litigation against that company (Brady et al., 2015). Therefore, despite attempts made to reduce gender bias in the workplace by implementing various diversity, equity, and inclusion initiatives, organizations often fail to implement empirically supported interventions that effectively address more structural or cultural forms of gender-bias that continues to persist in the STEM field.

Consequences of Masculine Culture in STEM

Past work has found that the masculine culture within STEM organizations leads to numerous negative outcomes and consequences. For instance, for both men and women, working in a workplace culture with more norms consistent with a masculinity contest culture is negatively correlated with psychological safety, job satisfaction, organizational dedication, and psychological and physical well-being (Glick et al., 2018). Further, Glick and colleagues (2018) found a positive relationship between masculinity contest culture scores and toxic leadership, bullying, sexual and ethnic harassment, burnout, and turnover intentions. Evidently this masculine work culture harms STEM organizations and those who work within them. However, research by Seron and colleagues (2015) suggests that the male-dominated culture within the STEM sector is established and made apparent prior to stepping foot into the workforce. Women pursuing a STEM degree are socialized through their interactions with faculty and peers to anticipate isolation and gender stereotyping once they enter the workforce (Seron et al., 2015). Women with a background in STEM often avoid opportunities in the industry due to this expectation that they will encounter a hostile work environment (Rosser & Lane, 2002). This expectation and concern that they will not be met with appropriate working conditions or receive fair treatment contributes significantly to the low representation of women in this field.

Furthermore, women in STEM often experience social identity threat, which can be defined as the fear or anxiety of confirming a negative group stereotype typically occurring in situations when one's social identity is devalued (Hall et al., 2018; Steele et al., 2002). The anticipation of being stigmatized or experiencing adverse treatment due to belonging to a particular social group can trigger anxiety and severely undermine an individual's success (Hall et al., 2018; Steele et al., 2002). Social identity threat has been found to be associated with

several harmful outcomes such as heightened feelings of burnout and mental exhaustion, decreased work engagement, lower confidence in attaining professional goals, and overall poor psychological well-being (Block et al., 2018; Casad & Bryant, 2016; Hall et al., 2015; Van Veelen et al., 2019).

Women who choose to remain in a career in STEM often struggle to "fit in" or find a sense of belonging (Fouad et al., 2017; Schmader & Sedikides, 2017; Seron et al., 2015). Women must work to navigate this professional world in a way that will allow the greatest likelihood of succeeding. At times, this means managing their self-presentation and behaviour at work to conform to the masculine culture (Garr-Schultz & Gardner, 2018). However, the misalignment between their personal values and those established within the environment creates the experience of inauthenticity. According to Schmader and Sedikides' (2017) state authenticity as fit to environment (SAFE) model, feeling authentic in a particular context is a key component of whether individuals believe they fit in that environment. Further, for individuals to feel as though they truly 'fit in' and feel like their authentic self, the environment needs to support the pursuit of their goals. This state feeling of authenticity is a driving force in whether someone chooses to approach or avoid various situations and environments. People generally prefer environments that value and reward their authentic selves, as this satisfies their fundamental need to belong. Therefore, it is imperative that organizations in STEM cultivate a culture that allows all individuals, irrespective of their social group, to feel like they can be their authentic selves and belong.

Cultivating Positive Workplace Culture

There are varying ways that organizations could enact positive change in the workplace to foster inclusion; however, capitalizing on the power of social norms should be at the forefront. The social context and social norms present within an organization have great power in shaping the behaviour of its employees (Kalkstein et al., 2022). While certain contexts can serve to encourage prejudiced attitudes and behaviour, others can act to discourage prejudice and discrimination towards individuals of different social groups (Murphy & Walton, 2013; Murphy et al., 2018). For example, companies that endorse a norm of *colorblindness* can foster prejudiced beliefs and behaviours. By adopting and encouraging a colourblind ideology, organizations, and the individuals working within these places, fail to acknowledge and understand the disadvantages faced by individuals belonging to racial and ethnic minorities. Creating this norm within the organization can be harmful and further perpetuate the inequality these individuals experience (Murphy et al., 2018). In contrast, organizations that hire and promote leaders who embody egalitarian and inclusive norms can create environments that discourage prejudice by modelling the type of positive behaviour that is valued and respected within that organization (Murphy et al., 2018). Individuals will often look to the values and behaviours that are shared among peers, colleagues, and coworkers to help understand the norms of the organization (Canning et al., 2020). Therefore, social norms function by suggesting what is accepted (vs. counter-normative) in a particular context, signalling valued behaviours and providing insight into how others might behave in similar situations (Abrams et al., 1990; Blay et al., 2016; Chatman & Cha, 2003; Cialdini & Trost, 1998).

Work by Vial and colleagues (2019, 2021) suggests that norms can be so influential that individuals may even accommodate relevant others' biases and values when making decisions at work even when they do not align with their own values. Specifically, they found that when human resources professionals receive cues that the CEO of a company holds gender-related prejudiced beliefs and values, they often accommodate this gender bias by choosing to hire more men than women in traditionally male-dominated domains (Vial et al., 2021). In contrast, signals of inclusion such as gender-inclusive workplace policies may serve as an indication of egalitarian norms within the organization and promote the sense of a shared goal for equity among coworkers, leading to stronger adherence to the egalitarian norms outlined by the organization (Schuster et al., 2022). Moreover, Kalkstein and colleagues (2022) further highlight the power of social norms by providing evidence that not only do social norms guide behaviour by suggesting what is acceptable in a given context, but they actually limit or govern what behaviours come to mind and are viewed as possible in a given situation. Our research intends to build upon this theory of the power of social norms and their ability to govern what behaviours are perceived as possible by examining how institutional signals of inclusion shape perceived norms within organizations and influence what actions and outcomes are perceived to be possible.

Given the strong influential nature of social norms, Hall and colleagues (2022) have suggested that an inclusive workplace culture can be created by signalling that inclusion is valued and normative at the institutional, interpersonal, and individual levels. Organizations can establish positive social norms through inclusive policies and practices such as implementing workshops or programs that encourage and foster positive working relations among individuals of all genders (Hall et al., 2018; Hall et al., 2022; Schmader et al., 2020). Enforcing such policies promotes a sense of inclusion and improves the interpersonal climate for both men and women in STEM (Maranto & Griffin, 2010). This is evidenced by field studies from a sample of STEM employees which found that gender-inclusive policies resulted in more positive interpersonal interactions with male colleagues and reduced social identity threat (Hall et al., 2018). Therefore, these studies demonstrate that positive social norms fostered through inclusive policies can in turn impact day-to-day interactions by setting a standard for exchanges that is characterized by respect and acceptance. The positive nature of these interpersonal interactions then shapes individuals' beliefs, attitudes, and behaviour at work (Schmader et al., 2020). Thus, by signalling strong institutional support and positive social norms through the implementation of inclusive policies and practices, organizations in STEM should create a work culture that is encouraging, supportive, and inclusive.

Implications of Institutional Signals of Inclusion

Institutional signals of inclusion may act to dismantle the hyper competitive, individualistic, and masculine culture we currently see in STEM and help to create environments where individuals belonging to marginalized groups can feel valued and welcome. Spaces that allow all individuals to feel accepted and free from devaluation based on their social group can be considered *identity safe* environments (Hall et al., 2022). Communicating identity safety through institutional signals of inclusion can foster an environment where people can express their ideas and opinions freely without the concern of repercussions or disrespect (Edmondson, 2019; Hall et al., 2022). Encouraging respectful interactions among colleagues promotes a sense of trust and comfort, enabling individuals, particularly those who belong to marginalized groups, to express their authentic selves (Edmondson, 2019; Hall et al., 2018). The ability for individuals to be their true self at work and feel safe in expressing their identity has been linked to various positive behavioural outcomes such as greater creativity, collaboration, and work engagement (Frazier et al., 2016). Therefore, creating inclusive and safe environments in STEM may provide greater opportunities and possibilities for all individuals.

Past work has discussed psychological mechanisms that may be beneficial for creating these environments that support positive behaviours and help to understand the impact that institutional signals of inclusion can have on individuals and organizations. Kalkstein and colleagues (2022) demonstrate a cognitive process by which the social norms established within a particular context limit individuals' awareness and consideration of counter-normative behaviour. They argue that the social norms of an environment determine the behavioural options that are psychologically afforded within that space, and impact what behaviours individuals perceive to be possible. Akin to how physical spaces can afford certain behaviours, it is theorized that certain contexts afford various psychological opportunities and perspectives (Walton & Yeager, 2020). To illustrate this idea that specific social contexts can afford certain psychological opportunities, one may consider a scenario in which an employee is starting at a new job. It is common to feel anxious entering a new role; however, if the company offers various opportunities to welcome the new employee, such as inviting them to attend networking or social events and demonstrating an authentic effort to make them feel included, it is likely that the employee will feel a greater sense of belonging and adopt a positive psychological perspective that will help them navigate the new role successfully (Walton & Yeager, 2020). According to previous research, organizations can work to create institutional channels that afford opportunities and facilitate the attainment of goals by constraining what behaviours are available and encouraged within that context (Goyer et al., 2021). With regard to the current research, gender inclusive workplace policies may signal an inclusive workplace culture characterized by positive social norms. As such, this positive work culture could then create a social environment that affords opportunities to engage in behaviours that benefit the self or others. These opportunities afforded by the environment may lead to greater perceptions of what is truly possible for oneself or others.

Understanding what opportunities may be afforded or made possible for the self or others in specific social contexts can be strengthened by the ability to envision the self or others in future scenarios or situations. Markus and Nurius (1986) coined the term *Possible Selves* as a conceptualization of our ability to think about and imagine a future version of the self. Possible selves are a form of self-knowledge about what individuals could become and the potential they hold for the future. Importantly, the socio-cultural context greatly determines what we perceive to be possible for the self (Markus & Nurius, 1986). Institutional signals of inclusion may serve as a cue to the socio-cultural context in the organization and influence perceptions of what could be possible for the future self at work. For a woman in STEM, an inclusive workplace culture may create perceptions of a future self that is capable and supported in reaching goals and achieving success within the organization. In contrast, a woman who is experiencing the negative consequences of the masculine culture in STEM may view her future self as failing to receive the support necessary to be successful within her role. Thus, by conveying a positive work environment, or inclusive socio-cultural context, institutional signals of inclusion may form an optimistic version of the possible self and create more positive perceptions of the opportunities that are afforded and possible within that organization.

Further, research on cognitive alternatives suggests that individuals' ability to imagine a different outcome or future can shape their attitudes and behaviour in the present moment (Iyer et al., 2017). Iyer and colleagues (2017) demonstrated that by introducing the idea of an alternative outcome to the current status quo for socially disadvantaged groups, individuals can begin to think and behave in ways that match the norms associated with a higher status group. In a sample of school-aged children belonging to disadvantaged social groups, they found that simply thinking about a future where they are offered equal opportunities to those belonging to

advantaged social groups led to greater perceived self-efficacy and stronger performance on school related task. Therefore, shifting the cognitive focus to an alternative reality where opportunities for one's in-group are improved in the future can lead to beliefs and behaviour in the present moment that are in accordance with these future ideals. In simpler terms, imagining the opportunity for positive social change can beneficially impact individuals' current attitudes and actions (Iyer et al., 2017). Institutional signals of inclusion, such as gender inclusive policies and practices, could offer individuals a cognitive alternative in which they could imagine a different, more positive workplace culture. This could create expectations or perceptions of possibilities that would be afforded by the inclusive social climate outlined in the workplace policies and help shape current attitudes and behaviours.

Present Research

Guided by the research that suggests that social contexts afford particular behaviours and outcomes (Kalkstein et al., 2022; Walton & Yeager, 2020) and drawing on the concept of the possible selves from Markus and Nurius (1986), this research hopes to extend the field by exploring the benefits that institutional signals of inclusion can have on behaviour and opportunities for the self and others in STEM. In the present work, we examined the process through which gender-inclusive workplace policies influence perceptions regarding possibilities for the self such as how possible it would be to 1) behave inclusively in interpersonal interactions (Study 1), 2) fully and authentically express core aspects of your personal identity (Study 2), and 3) achieve professional goals (Study 3). These outcomes were derived from the work by Schmader and Sedikides (2017) on the importance of experiencing positive social relationships and authenticity, and feeling as though your goals are supported for establishing a sense of belonging and fit in STEM. In addition, we were interested in understanding how gender-

inclusive workplace policies shape perceptions of what is possible for other people, and how they may influence the decision to hire a woman in STEM (Study 4). From these research questions we formulated the following hypotheses:

- In Study 1, we predicted that participants exposed to a company with more genderinclusive policies will report that it is more possible to engage in inclusive behaviour compared to those exposed to a company with fewer gender-inclusive policies.
- 2. In Study 2, we predicted that participants exposed to a company with more genderinclusive policies will report that it is more possible to fully and authentically express important aspects of their personal identity at work compared to those exposed to a company with fewer gender-inclusive policies.
- 3. In Study 3, we predicted that participants exposed to a company with more genderinclusive policies will report that it is more possible to engage in behaviours that demonstrate their competence at work and help them achieve professional goals compared to those exposed to a company with fewer gender-inclusive policies.
- 4. In Study 4, we predicted that participants exposed to a company with more genderinclusive policies will show a stronger preference for a qualified female candidate and a greater likelihood of hiring qualified women in STEM compared to those exposed to a company with fewer gender-inclusive policies.
- 5. Given the influential role of norms in governing behaviours and the expectations social norms elicit with regard to anticipated interpersonal interactions, we predicted that perceived interpersonal norms would mediate the relationship between institutional signals of inclusion and perceptions of what is possible for the self and others across all four studies.

Study 1

Methods

Sample and Recruitment. Our sample was recruited using the online research platform Prolific¹. We recruited a total of 597 participants; however, participants were excluded from analyses if they met the following exclusion criteria: they failed to correctly respond to either one of our two attention check questions, they self-reported that they responded randomly during the study, they provided nonsensical or inappropriate responses (e.g., leaving it blank, entering numbers, entering gibberish, one-word answers, or otherwise failing to adequately answer the question) on key free-response questions (related to our manipulation), or, they did not identify as a male or female². The exclusion criteria were applied across all four studies. In Study 1, 72 participants were excluded for failing an attention check question, 11 participants were excluded for reporting that they responded randomly during the study, and 8 participants who identified as gender non-binary were excluded from analyses. Thus, our final sample consisted of 506 participants (256 women and 250 men).

The majority of our participants reported that they reside in the United Kingdom or the United States (see Table 12 in Appendix J³). Their age ranged from 18 to 75 years, with a mean of 38.44 (SD = 13.69). Further, our sample predominantly identified as White (76.7%), heterosexual (83%), and reported having completed a bachelor's degree (40.5%) or high school (30.2%) as their highest level of education (See Table 1). Participants received £2.00 administered through Prolific for completing the study. Our research question, hypotheses, data

¹ Data from all four studies were collected from Prolific; therefore, to eliminate the possibility of participants having previous exposure to similar study materials, they were restricted to only participate in one of our studies.

² Gender was a variable of interest in our studies; therefore, participants who did not identify as a male or a female were excluded from analyses due to an insufficient number of participants identifying with a different gender.

³ In Appendix J, you can find a discussion of the potential for conducting analyses to test for moderation of the effects by country of residence.

collection plan, exclusion criteria, and plan of analysis were pre-registered and can be found on

OSF (https://osf.io/ydnqs/?view_only=407da006dc4a41088bf30f183e39fff4).

Table 1.

Sample Demographic Information Study 1

	Ν	Percent
Ethnicity		
Asian	62	12.3
Black/African American	19	3.8
Hispanic/Latino/South American	6	1.2
Middle Eastern	6	1.2
White/Caucasian	388	76.7
Other	18	3.6
Prefer not to answer	10	2.0
Sexual Orientation		
Asexual	7	1.4
Bisexual	40	7.9
Heterosexual	420	83.0
Homosexual	24	4.7
Other	5	1.0
Prefer not to say	10	2.0
Education		
Some high school	9	1.8
High school	153	30.2
Bachelor's degree	205	40.5
Master's degree	81	16.0
Ph.D. or higher	16	3.2
Graduate Diploma	5	1.0
Post-graduate diploma	17	3.4
Other	16	3.2
Prefer not to say	4	0.8

Design and Procedure. Participants were invited to take part in an online study regarding attitudes and opinions towards workplaces. Participants were first presented with an infographic from a fictitious technology development company called CCB which displayed the company background and policies to provide participants with a sense of the company's culture (See Appendix A). Participants were randomly assigned to one of two experimental conditions, in which we manipulated the information presented in the infographic. In both conditions, participants were presented with the same information about the company. The manipulation was introduced by varying the company policies participants read.

In both conditions, participants were shown a list of 11 policies, seven were marked as present at the company and four were marked as absent. The extent to which these policies were gender inclusive was manipulated across conditions. In the *high inclusion condition*, five of the seven policies present at the company were gender inclusive (e.g., Supervisors accountable for providing equal support to all genders) and none of those that were marked as absent related to gender inclusion (e.g., Provides employees with discounted fitness centre memberships). In contrast, in the *low inclusion condition*, only two of the seven company policies present were gender inclusive (e.g., Family friendly work programs) while three out of the four policies that were absent from the company were related to gender inclusion (e.g., Work schedules, job titles, and work conditions inclusive of all genders). The number of gender-inclusive policies present in each condition above and below the mean number of gender-inclusive policies reported by working engineers to be present at their organization (Hall et al., 2018). See Appendix A for the complete list of company policies.

Dependent Measures.

Interpersonal Norms. Following the manipulation, participants answered one item assessing their beliefs about the interpersonal norms at the company: "At CCB, I believe that interactions among people of different genders would be characterized by respect and trust." ($I = strongly \ disagree; 7 = strongly \ agree$).

Inclusive Behaviour at Work. Next, participants were asked to list three behaviours that they would engage in to make someone feel welcome, respected, and trusted at work (e.g.,

seek their input on decision-making, include them in any afterwork group social activities, provide positive feedback)⁴. The responses provided by the participants were then piped into the following question, where they were asked to rate the degree to which they perceived that the work culture of the described organization would make it possible for them to engage in each behaviour they had listed. The ratings were made on a 5-point scale (1 = impossible; 5 =*extremely possible*). The scale was calculated as the mean of participants' ratings across all three behaviours ($\alpha = .84$)⁵.

Manipulation Check. One manipulation check question was included to ensure participants in the high inclusion condition perceived a significantly larger number of gender inclusive policies and practices at CCB compared to those in the low inclusion condition. Participants rated their agreement to the statement "CCB has a large number of gender inclusive policies and practices." Ratings were made on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*).

Attention check. Towards the end of the survey, participants also responded to two attention check questions to ensure that they were attentive to the study materials. These questions included "What was the name of the company you read about at the start of the study?" and "What type of company is CCB?".

Policies Memory Test. Further, to assess participants' ability to recall the genderinclusive policies, they were asked to complete a memory test question which asked them to indicate from a list which policies were present at the company (see Appendix H).

⁴ The inclusive behaviours listed by the participants were rated by research assistants for their effectiveness. Analyses based on this coding can be found in Appendix J.

⁵ Participants were excluded from analyses if they did not report three behaviours. This exclusion criteria was utilized in Studies 1 through 3.

Demographics. Lastly, participants provided demographic information such as gender,

age, and sexual orientation. See Appendix I for a complete list of demographic questions.

Results

Descriptive Statistics. Descriptive statistics and zero-order correlations were computed

for all variables included in key analyses. A summary of these statistics can be found in Table 2.

Table 2.

Study 1 Descriptive Statistics and Correlations of Key Variables

Variable	M	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis	1	2	3	4	5
1. Condition			-0.04	-2.01					
2. Gender			-0.02	-2.01	.04				
Manipulation Check	4.82	1.77	-0.65	-0.69	.59***	.01			
4. Policies Memory Test	76.2	23.0	-0.73	-0.37	.08	.06	.06		
5. Interpersonal Norms	5.27	1.45	-0.92	0.22	.37***	05	.67***	.05	
6. Inclusive Behaviour	4.13	0.75	-0.71	0.33	.09*	08	.37***	.04	.52***
Note. * p < .05; *** p < .00	01								

Manipulation Check. First, we assessed whether our manipulation was effective at altering participants' perceptions of the degree of gender inclusion at the described organization. We tested for mean differences in perception of the number of gender-inclusive workplace policies and practices present at CCB between the high and low inclusion conditions. An independent samples *t*-test revealed that on average, participants in the high inclusion condition reported that there were significantly more gender-inclusive policies present at the company (M = 5.84, SE = 0.07) compared to those in the low inclusion condition (M = 3.76, SE = 0.11), t(399.36) = 16.20, p < .001, d = 1.45 (refer to Figure 1).

Figure 1.



Study 1 Manipulation Check

Note. Error bars represent the standard error.

Policies Memory Test. Further, we examined participants' responses to the memory test question. A one-sample *t*-test was conducted with the test value set at 50. The analysis revealed that on average, participants correctly identified 76.23% of the policies that were in place at CCB which is significantly greater than chance, t(505) = 25.69, p < .001, d = 1.14. This suggests that on average participants were attentive to the study materials⁶.

Perception of interpersonal norms. Having established that our manipulation was effective, we conducted a two-way ANOVA to analyze the effect of gender (male vs. female) and condition (high inclusion vs. low inclusion) on participants' perceptions of the interpersonal norms at the company. A statistically significant main effect of condition on perception of interpersonal norms was found such that participants in the high inclusion condition reported significantly stronger perceptions of positive interpersonal norms at CCB (M = 5.77, SE = 0.08)

⁶ An independent samples t-test was conducted to examine mean differences in the percent of policies correctly recalled by participants in the low and high inclusion condition. The analysis revealed that the means did not significantly differ between the high (M = 78.13, SD = 22.55) and low inclusion (M = 74.25, SD = 23.27) conditions, t(504) = -1.90, p = .058.

compared to those in the low inclusion condition (M = 4.72, SE = 0.09), F(1, 502) = 79.09, p < .001 (refer to Figure 2). We found no significant main effect of gender on perceptions of the interpersonal norms, F(1, 502) = 2.35, p = .126. Further, there was no statistically significant interaction between gender and condition on perceptions of interpersonal norms, F(1, 502) = 3.21, p = .074. These analyses showed that irrespective of participants' gender, those who were exposed to a company that had more gender-inclusive policies anticipated positive interpersonal norms at the organization.

Figure 2.





Note. Error bars represent the standard error.

Possibility for inclusive behaviour. Next, we tested our key hypothesis that more gender-inclusive workplace policies would result in a greater perception that behaving in an inclusive manner would be possible at the described organization. To do this, we conducted a two-way ANOVA to examine the effect of gender and condition on participants' perception of how possible it would be to engage in inclusive behaviour at the company. We found a

statistically significant main effect of condition on participants' perception of the possibility of behaving inclusively, F(1, 501) = 4.56, p = .033, such that those in the high inclusion condition reported significantly greater perceptions that behaving inclusively would be possible at CCB (M = 4.20, SE = 0.05) compared to those in the low inclusion condition (M = 4.05, SE = 0.05; see Figure 3). We did not find a significant main effect of gender, F(1, 501) = 3.63, p = .057. Similarly, there was no significant interaction between condition and gender, F(1, 501) = 3.53, p = .061.

Figure 3.







Mediation. A mediation analysis was conducted to test the degree to which gender-inclusive workplace policies impact participants' belief that engaging in inclusive behaviour would be possible through their perceptions of the interpersonal norms at the company (See Figure 4). The analysis was conducted with Hayes' Process Macro (Model 4; Hayes, 2022) using 5000 bootstrap resamples to estimate the direct, indirect, and total effects. Ninety-five percent

bootstrap confidence intervals that do not contain zero are considered statistically significant. The mediation model revealed that participants expected more positive interpersonal norms in the gender inclusive company (a = 1.06, 95% CI [0.82, 1.30], p < .001), and anticipating a more positive interpersonal context predicted the possibility of engaging in inclusive behaviour (b =0.29, 95% CI [0.25, 0.33], p < .001). A significant indirect effect was found such that genderinclusive policies led to stronger beliefs that engaging in inclusive behaviour would be possible through perceptions of more positive interpersonal norms at CCB, ab = 0.31, 95% CI [0.22, 0.40]. To see all of the estimates from these models, refer to Table 3. Additionally, as seen in Table 3, the total effect of gender inclusive policies on the possibility for inclusive behaviour demonstrates a positive association, while the direction is flipped for the direct effect. This is likely the result of a negative suppression effect occurring due to the strong relationship between gender-inclusive policies (independent variable) and perceptions of interpersonal norms (mediator variable), and a relatively much weaker association between gender-inclusive policies and inclusive behaviour (dependent variable). Lastly, a moderated mediation analysis was conducted to assess whether this indirect effect was moderated by gender. Analyses revealed that gender was a significant moderator such that the indirect effect was significantly larger for women than for men, $b_{\text{index of moderated mediation}} = 0.18$, SE = 0.09, 95% CI [0.01, 0.38]. The all path moderated mediation model can be found in the supplemental materials (see Appendix J).

Figure 4.

Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility for Inclusive Behaviour via Interpersonal Norms



Table 3.

Mediation Model from Study 1

Path Estimates	Coefficients
Path a	1.06*** [0.82, 1.30]
Path b	0.29*** [0.25, 0.33]
Path c	0.14* [0.01, 0.27]
Path c'	-0.17** [-0.29, -0.05]

Note. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001. Coefficients denote the unstandardized beta. Values in the square brackets indicate the 95% confidence interval for each path estimate.

Study 1 provides initial evidence to support our first hypothesis that gender-inclusive workplace policies can lead individuals to gain a greater perception that behaving in an inclusive manner is possible within that workplace culture. We found evidence of significant mediation suggesting that the gender-inclusive policies affect beliefs regarding the possibility for inclusive behaviour indirectly by increasing perceptions of more inclusive interpersonal norms within the company. In Study 2, we tested our second hypothesis pertaining to the possibility for authentic self-expression.

Study 2

Methods

Sample and Recruitment. Six-hundred and two adults were recruited from Prolific to participate in our second study. Eighty-one participants were excluded for failing an attention check question, 11 were excluded for reporting that they responded randomly during the study, one was excluded for providing inappropriate responses on key open-ended questions, and 6 participants were excluded for identifying as gender non-binary or agender. Our final sample consisted of 503 participants (254 women, 249 men). Participants' age ranged from 18 to 81 years, with a mean of 39 (SD = 14.10). The sample predominantly identified as White (85.1%), heterosexual (83.3%), and reported having completed a bachelor's degree (43.5%) or high school (30%) as their highest level of education (See Table 4). Participants received £2.00 administered through Prolific for completing the study. Our research question, hypotheses, data collection plan, exclusion criteria, and plan of analysis were pre-registered and can be found on OSF (https://osf.io/c9kb6/?view_only=55bbfab723d3401db44f11d83b010f6c).

Table 4.

Sample Demographic Information Study 2

	N	Percent
Ethnicity		
Asian	32	6.4
Black/African American	18	3.6
Hispanic/Latino/South American	4	0.8
Middle Eastern	1	0.2
White/Caucasian	428	85.1
Other	11	2.2
Prefer not to answer	4	0.8
Sexual Orientation		
Asexual	10	2.0
Bisexual	43	8.5
Heterosexual	419	83.3
Homosexual	17	3.4
Other	3	0.6
Prefer not to say	11	2.2
Education		
Some high school	8	1.6
High school	151	30.0
Bachelor's degree	219	43.5
Master's degree	79	15.7
Ph.D. or higher	14	2.8
Graduate Diploma	4	0.8
Post-graduate diploma	11	2.2
Other	14	2.8
Prefer not to say	3	0.6

Design and Procedure. In our second study, participants were exposed to the same manipulation as Study 1. Participants were shown an infographic of technology company, CCB, and the degree to which the workplace policies were gender-inclusive was manipulated across conditions.

Dependent Measures.

Interpersonal Norms. Using methods similar to that of Study 1, participants answered one item assessing their beliefs about the interpersonal norms at the company: "At CCB, I believe that interactions among people of different genders would be characterized by respect and trust." (1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree).

Authentic Self-Expression at Work. Following this, participants completed our key dependent measure. Using the same procedure as Study 1, participants were asked to list three core aspects of their personal identity that they hope would be accepted by others at their place of work (e.g., ethnic background, religious beliefs, being a mother). The responses provided by the participants were then piped forward into the next question where they rated the degree to which they perceived that the work culture of the described organization would make it possible for them to fully and authentically express each aspect of their personal identity listed (1 = impossible; 5 = extremely possible). The scale was calculated as the mean of participants' ratings across all three behaviours ($\alpha = .78$).

Manipulation Check. Participants then responded to our manipulation check question to ensure a significantly larger number of gender inclusive policies and practices were perceived by those in the high inclusion condition compared to those in the low inclusion condition. Specifically, they rated their agreement using a 7-point scale to the statement "CCB has a large number of gender inclusive policies and practices" (1 = *strongly disagree*; 7 = *strongly agree*).

Attention check. Two attention check questions used in Study 1 were included to ensure that participants were attentive to the study materials ("What was the name of the company you read about at the start of the study?" and "What type of company is CCB?").

Policies Memory Test. Additionally, the same policies memory test described in Study 1 was included (see Appendix H).

Demographics. Finally, participants completed our demographic questionnaire used in Study 1 (See Appendix I for a complete list of demographic questions).

Results

Descriptive Statistics. Descriptive statistics and zero-order correlations were computed

for all variables included in key analyses. A summary of these statistics can be found in Table 5.

Table 5.

Study 2 Descriptive Statistics and Correlations of Key Variables

Variable	M	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis	1	2	3	4	5
1. Condition			-0.04	-2.01					
2. Gender			-0.02	-2.01	.03				
3. Manipulation Check	4.75	1.75	-0.58	-0.76	.61***	.00			
4. Policies Memory Test	76.8	22.3	-0.75	-0.19	.01	.04	.00		
5. Interpersonal Norms	5.28	1.43	-1.00	0.40	.41***	05	.65***	.02	
6. Authentic Self-Expression	3.74	0.85	-0.37	-0.32	.12**	02	.35***	.00	.53***
$Note ** n < 01 \cdot *** n < 001$									

Note. ** p < .01; *** p < .001

Manipulation Check. Like Study 1, we first assessed whether our manipulation was effective. We performed an independent samples *t*-test to examine mean differences in perception of the number of gender-inclusive workplace policies and practices present at CCB between the high and low inclusion conditions. We found that participants in the high inclusion condition reported significantly more gender-inclusive policies present at the company (M = 5.81, SE = 0.06) compared to those in the low inclusion condition (M = 3.65, SE = 0.11), t(396.04) = 17.22, p < .001, d = 1.55 (refer to Figure 5).
Figure 5.





Note. Error bars represent the standard error.

Policies Memory Test. We then conducted a one sample *t*-test to assess participants' responses to the memory test question. We found that participants correctly identified 76.82% of the policies that were in place at CCB which is significantly greater than chance, t(593) = 29.32, p < .001, d = 1.20, suggesting that on average participants were attentive to the study materials⁷.

Perception of interpersonal norms. We then examined participants' perception of the interpersonal norms at CCB. Like in Study 1, we conducted a two-way ANOVA to analyze the effect of gender and condition on participants' perception of the interpersonal norms at the company. We found a statistically significant main effect of condition on perception of interpersonal norms, F(1, 499) = 103.51, p < .001, such that participants in the high inclusion condition (M = 5.85, SE = 0.08) reported significantly stronger perceptions of positive

⁷ An independent samples t-test was conducted to examine mean differences in the percent of policies correctly recalled by participants in the low and high inclusion condition. The analysis revealed that the means did not significantly differ between the high (M = 79.16, SD = 21.05) and low inclusion (M = 78.75, SD = 20.80) conditions, t(501) = -0.22, p = .826.

interpersonal norms at CCB compared to those in the low inclusion condition (M = 4.67, SE = 0.08; see Figure 6). There was no significant main effect of gender on perceptions of the interpersonal norms, F(1, 499) = 2.59, p = .108. No statistically significant interaction was found between gender and condition on perceptions of interpersonal norms, F(1, 499) = 1.10, p = .295. These results revealed that participants exposed to the company with more gender-inclusive policies expected a more positive and inclusive work culture compared to those exposed to a company with fewer gender-inclusive policies regardless of their gender.

Figure 6.





Note. Error bars represent the standard error.

Possibility for authentic self-expression. To examine our key dependent variable, we ran a two-way ANOVA to test the impact of condition and gender on participants' perception of how possible they believed it would be to express core aspects of their personal identity fully and authentically at CCB. Results revealed no significant main effect of gender, F(1, 499) = 0.31, p = .580, but a significant main effect of condition, F(1, 499) = 7.20, p = .008, that was qualified by

a significant condition by gender interaction, F(1, 499) = 6.30, p = .012 (refer to Figure 7). To be conservative, simple effects analyses were conducted using a Bonferroni correction, adjusting the significance level for the four comparisons being made. This approach means that the *p*values below reach statistical significance at p < .0125.

These analyses revealed that women expected a significantly greater possibility for authentic self-expression in the high inclusion condition (M = 3.91, SE = 0.07) compared to in the low inclusion condition (M = 3.52, SE = 0.08), t(499) = 3.69, p < .001. In contrast, gender-inclusive policies had no significant effect on men's perception of the possibility for authentic self-expression at CCB (high inclusion condition, M = 3.76, SE = 0.08; low inclusion condition, M = 3.75, SE = 0.08), t(499) = 0.14, p = .226. Further, men and women differed significantly in their perceptions of the possibility for authentic self-expression in the low inclusion condition, such that women reported significantly lower perceptions that authentic self-expression would be possible (M = 3.52, SE = 0.08) compared to men (M = 3.75, SE = 0.08), t(499) = 2.14, p = .008. Whereas there was no significant difference between men (M = 3.76, SE = 0.08) and women (M = 3.91, SE = 0.07) in their perceptions of the possibility for authentic self-expression in the high inclusion condition, t(499) = 1.40, p = .041.

Figure 7.



Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility for Authentic Self-Expression by Gender

Note. Error bars represent the standard error.

Moderated mediation. We tested a moderated mediation model to assess whether the indirect effect of gender-inclusive workplace policies on beliefs regarding the possibility for authentic self-expression via perceptions of positive interpersonal norms was moderated by gender (see Figure 8). Using Hayes Process Macro (Model 59; Hayes, 2022), we assessed the effects of moderation of gender (men coded as 0; women coded as 1) on 1) the relationship between gender inclusive policies and beliefs regarding the possibility for authentic self-expression (path c); 2) the relationship between gender-inclusive workplace policies and perceptions of interpersonal norms (path a); 3) the relationship between perceptions of interpersonal norms and beliefs regarding the possibility for authentic self-expression (path b). The analyses were performed using 5000 bootstrap resamples. Ninety-five percent bootstrap confidence intervals that do not contain zero are considered statistically significant. Analyses

revealed significant indirect effects for both men (ab = 0.30, 95% CI [0.20, 0.42]) and women (ab = 0.50, 95% CI [0.35, 0.66]). Tests of moderated mediation suggested that the indirect effect for women was significantly larger than for men, $b_{index of moderated mediation} = 0.20$, SE = 0.10, 95% CI [0.004, 0.40]. These findings suggest that more gender-inclusive workplace policies lead to stronger beliefs that authentic self-expression would be possible for both men and women through perceptions of more positive interpersonal norms. However, this effect is stronger for women compared to men. To see all of the estimates from these models, refer to Table 6.

Figure 8.

Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility for Authentic Self-Expression via Interpersonal Norms Moderated by Gender



Table 6.

Moderated Mediation Model from Study 2

	Women	Men	Interaction
Path a	1.30*** [0.98, 1.63]	1.06*** [0.74, 1.39]	0.24 [-0.21, 0.70]
Path b	0.38*** [0.32, 0.45]	0.29*** [0.22,0.36]	0.10** [0.001, 0.19]
Path c	0.39*** [0.18, 0.60]	0.01 [-0.20, 0.22]	0.38* [0.08, 0.67]
Path c'	-0.11 [-0.31, 0.08]	-0.29** [-0.48, -0.10]	0.18 [-0.10, 0.45]

Note. p < .05; p < .01; p < .01; p < .001. Coefficients denote the unstandardized beta. Values in the square brackets indicate the 95% confidence interval for each path estimate.

Findings from Study 2 support our second hypothesis that more gender-inclusive policies would lead to higher perceptions that expressing oneself fully and authentically would be possible within the work culture. However, unlike Study 1, there were significant gender differences such that the main effect of gender-inclusive policies on the possibility for authentic self-expression was only significant for women. Moreover, the tests of moderated mediation further illustrates these gender differences by indicating that the indirect effect of gender-inclusive policies on authentic self-expression via perceived interpersonal norms was larger for women compared to men. As discussed by Schmader and Sedikides (2017), women's underrepresentation in STEM may make them particularly vigilant to cues that facilitate authenticity. It is possible that due to this emphasis placed on authenticity, women's perceptions of the possibility for authentic self-expression were more influenced by the institutional signals of inclusion, resulting in a larger effect being found for women compared to men in this study.

Study 3

Methods

Sample and Recruitment. We recruited a total of 600 participants from Prolific to take part in our third study. Eighty-six participants were excluded for failing an attention check question, 16 participants were excluded for reporting that they responded randomly during the study, and eight were excluded for reporting that they identified as non-binary or agender. This left us with a final sample of 490 participants (245 women, 245 men). Participants' age ranged from 18 to 80 years, with a mean of 36.20 (*SD* = 12.26). We had a predominantly White (76.7%) and heterosexual (85.3%) sample. Also, participants reported having completed a bachelor's degree (43.3%) or high school (29.4%) as their highest level of education (See Table 7). Participants received £2.00 administered through Prolific for completing the study. Our research

question, hypotheses, data collection plan, exclusion criteria, and plan of analysis were pre-

registered and can be found on OSF

(https://osf.io/yvj3r/?view_only=0dcc3fbbb4704d92821f750a0e85f499).

Table 7.

Sample Demographic Information Study 3

	Ν	Percent		
Ethnicity				
Asian	53	10.8		
Black/African American	26	5.3		
Hispanic/Latino/South American	12	2.4		
Middle Eastern	4	0.8		
White/Caucasian	376	76.7		
Other	6	1.2		
Prefer not to answer	4	0.8		
Sexual Orientation				
Asexual	9	1.8		
Bisexual	28	5.7		
Heterosexual	418	85.3		
Homosexual	17	3.5		
Other	4	0.8		
Prefer not to say	14	2.9		
Education				
Some high school	7	1.4		
High school	144	29.4		
Bachelor's degree	212	43.3		
Master's degree	73	14.9		
Ph.D. or higher	15	3.1		
Graduate Diploma	10	2.0		
Post-graduate diploma	10	2.0		
Other	15	3.1		
Prefer not to say	4	0.8		

Design and Procedure. Participants were exposed to the same manipulation as described in the previous two studies (Refer to Appendix A for manipulation materials).

Dependent Measures.

Interpersonal Norms. Participants were first assessed on their beliefs about the

interpersonal norms at the company. They responded to the statement, "At CCB, I believe that

interactions among people of different genders would be characterized by respect and trust" on a 7-point Likert scale (1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree).

Professional Goals. Next, adopting the same procedure as Studies 1 and 2, participants were asked to list three behaviours, actions, or tasks they might perform in an office setting to demonstrate that they are a competent employee and would help them move towards professional goals (e.g., strong networking to improve business connections and opportunities, pursue training and professional development opportunities, mentor other team members)⁸. Again, the responses provided were piped into the following question. Using a 5-point scale (1 = impossible; 5 = extremely possible), participants rated the degree to which they perceived that the work culture of the described organization would make it possible for them to engage in the behaviours, actions or tasks they previously listed. The scale was calculated as the mean of participants' ratings across all three behaviours ($\alpha = .81$).

Manipulation Check. Participants then completed our one-item manipulation check measure described previously that assessed their perception of the number of gender inclusive policies at CCB ("CCB has a large number of gender inclusive policies and practices" 1 = *strongly disagree*; 7 = *strongly agree*).

Attention check. Remaining consistent with our first two studies, participants responded to two attention check questions that asked them about the name of the described company and the industry to ensure participants were attentive to the study materials (See Appendix H).

⁸ The behaviours listed by the participants were rated by research assistants for their effectiveness. Analyses based on this coding can be found in Appendix J.

Policies Memory Test. Again, participants were assessed on their ability to recall the

gender-inclusive policies present at the company using the memory test question from Studies 1

and 2 (See Appendix H).

Demographics. At the end of the survey, participants completed the same demographic

questionnaire as our first two studies (See Appendix I).

Results

Descriptive Statistics. Descriptive statistics and zero-order correlations were computed for all variables included in key analyses. A summary of these statistics can be found in Table 8.

Table 8.

Study 3 Descriptive Statistics and Correlations of Key Variables

Variable	М	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis	1	2	3	4	5
1. Condition			-0.05	-2.01					
2. Gender			0.00	-2.01	.01				
3. Manipulation Check	4.68	1.94	-0.54	-1.01	.63***	05			
4. Policies Memory Test	79.0	21.1	-0.86	0.16	.13**	.03	.15***		
Interpersonal Norms	5.10	1.56	-0.82	-0.22	.45***	07	.77***	.21***	
6. Professional Goals	4.15	0.73	-0.68	0.07	.14**	08	.37***	.11*	.46***
Nota * n < 05 ** n < 01 *** n < 001									

Note. * p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001

Manipulation Check. We first assessed the effectiveness of our manipulation by performing an independent samples *t*-test to examine mean differences in perception of the number of gender-inclusive workplace policies and practices present at CCB between the high and low inclusion conditions. We found that participants in the high inclusion condition reported that there were significantly more gender-inclusive policies present at the company (M = 5.87, SE = 0.07) compared to those in the low inclusion condition (M = 3.44, SE = 0.12), t(391.36) = 17.65, p < .001, d = 1.61, suggesting that our manipulation was effective (refer to Figure 9).

Figure 9.





Note. Error bars represent the standard error.

Policies Memory Test. We then conducted a one sample *t*-test to assess participants' ability to correctly identify from a list which policies were present at CCB. We found that on average, participants correctly identified 79.04% of the policies that were in place at CCB which is significantly greater than chance, t(489) = 30.45, p < .001, d = 1.38, suggesting that on average participants were attentive to the study materials⁹.

Perception of interpersonal norms. Next, we examined participants' perceptions of the interpersonal norms at CCB. Like Studies 1 and 2, we conducted a two-way ANOVA to analyze the effect of gender and condition on participants' perception of the interpersonal norms

⁹ An independent samples *t*-test was conducted to examine mean differences in the percent of policies correctly recalled by participants in the low and high inclusion condition. The analysis revealed that on average participants in the high inclusion condition recalled a significantly greater percentage of policies correctly (M = 81.73, SD = 19.85) compared to those in the low inclusion condition (M = 76.20, SD = 22.05), t(488) = -2.92, p = .004. Given this significant difference in the percentage of policies correctly recalled between conditions, we re-ran our two-way ANOVAs predicting interpersonal norms and the possibility for achieving professional goals with the policies memory test scores included as a covariate to ensure the main effect of condition remained significant. We found that the effect of the gender-inclusive policies on interpersonal norms and the possibility for achieving professional goals remained significant after controlling for participants scores on the policies memory test.

at the company. We found a statistically significant main effect of condition on perception of interpersonal norms, F(1, 486) = 127.29, p < .001, such that participants in the high inclusion condition reported significantly stronger perceptions of positive interpersonal norms at CCB (M = 5.79, SE = 0.09) compared to those in the low inclusion condition (M = 4.37, SE = 0.09; see Figure 10). There was no significant main effect of gender on perceptions of the interpersonal norms, F(1, 486) = 3.64, p = .057. Likewise, no significant interaction between gender and condition on perceptions of interpersonal norms was found, F(1, 486) = 0.56, p = .457.

Figure 10.





Note. Error bars represent the standard error.

Possibility for attaining professional goals. Next, we conducted a two-way ANOVA to examine the effects of condition and gender on participants' ratings of how possible they believed it would be to engage in behaviours that would help them reach their professional goals at CCB. A significant main effect of condition was found, F(1, 486) = 9.79, p = .002 (see Figure 11). Participants in the high inclusion condition reported significantly stronger beliefs that

achieving professional goals would be possible at CCB (M = 4.25, SE = 0.05) compared to those in the low inclusion condition (M = 4.05, SE = 0.05). We did not find significant main effect of gender, F(1, 486) = 3.52, p = .061. Similarly, results revealed no significant gender by condition interaction, F(1, 486) = 1.68, p = .195.

Figure 11.

Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility for Achieving Professional Goals





Mediation. A mediation analysis was conducted to test the degree to which genderinclusive workplace policies impact participants' belief regarding how possible it would be to achieve professional goals at CCB through their perceptions of the interpersonal norms at the company (see Figure 12). The analysis was conducted with Hayes' Process Macro (Model 4; Hayes, 2022) using 5000 bootstrap resamples to estimate the direct, indirect, and total effects. Ninety-five percent bootstrap confidence intervals that do not contain zero are considered statistically significant. The mediation model revealed that participants expected more positive interpersonal norms in the gender inclusive company (a = 1.42, 95% CI [1.17, 1.66], p < .001), and anticipating a more positive interpersonal context predicted the possibility of achieving professional goals (b = 0.24, 95% CI [0.20, 0.28], p < .001). A significant indirect effect was found whereby gender-inclusive policies predicted stronger beliefs that achieving professional goals would be possible through more positive perceptions of the interpersonal norms at CCB, ab = 0.34, 95% CI [0.25, 0.43]. To see all of the estimates from these models, refer to Table 9. Similar to Study 1, we can see in Table 9 that the total effect of gender inclusive policies on the possibility of achieving professional goals demonstrates a positive association, while the direction is flipped for the direct effect. Again, this is likely the result of a negative suppression effect occurring due to the strong relationship between gender-inclusive policies (independent variable) and perceptions of interpersonal norms (mediator variable), and a relatively much weaker association between gender-inclusive policies and achieving professional goals (dependent variable). A moderated mediation analysis was conducted to assess whether this indirect effect was moderated by gender. Analyses revealed that the indirect effect was not moderated by gender, $b_{index of moderated mediation} = 0.07$, SE = 0.09, 95% CI [-0.11, 0.25]. The all path moderated mediation model can be found in the supplemental materials (see Appendix J).

Figure 12.

Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility of Achieving Professional Goals via Interpersonal Norms



Table 9.

Path Estimates	Coefficients
Path a	1.42*** [1.17, 1.66]
Path b	0.24*** [0.20, 0.28]
Path c	0.20** [0.07, 0.33]
Path c'	-0.13* [-0.26, -0.002]

Mediation Model from Study 3

Note. p < .05; p < .01; p < .01; p < .001. Coefficients denote the unstandardized beta. Values in the square brackets indicate the 95% confidence interval for each path estimate.

Like Studies 1 and 2, Study 3 found support for our hypothesis that more genderinclusive policies would lead to stronger beliefs that it would be possible to behave in ways that would help achieve professional goals. Similarly, this relationship was mediated by increased perceptions of positive interpersonal norms within the company.

Interim Discussion

Across Studies 1 to 3, we found evidence to suggest that individuals look to the culture of the organization to gain a sense of what is possible for the self. A consistent pattern of results revealed that gender-inclusive workplace policies led to the expectation of an inclusive interpersonal climate resulting in stronger beliefs that it would be possible to behave in an inclusive manner, express oneself fully and authentically, and successfully work towards achieving professional goals. These findings support the idea that institutional signals of inclusion (i.e., gender-inclusive policies) help create a space where women can feel as though they can thrive. Creating spaces where women feel as though it is possible to succeed may lead others to feel more comfortable bringing other women into that context. Just as Vial and colleagues (2019, 2021) found that individuals will accommodate the gender bias of relevant third parties when making hiring decisions in male-dominated domains, it is possible that individuals will accommodate the inclusive values of the organization when making hiring decisions in STEM. Establishing effective strategies to increase the likelihood of hiring qualified women in STEM would have significant implications for organizations given the existing research demonstrating that a diverse workforce offers a competitive edge by providing a more extensive knowledge base, leading to more creativity and cognitive flexibility (Haine-Bennett et al., 2020). Therefore, the goal of Study 4 was to examine the impact that institutional signals of inclusion, or more specifically gender-inclusive policies, can have on hiring decisions in STEM. As previously stated, we expected that more gender-inclusive policies would lead participants to demonstrate a stronger preference for qualified women, and result in a greater likelihood of choosing to hire qualified women for a position in STEM.

Study 4

Methods

Sample and Recruitment. Six-hundred and one participants were recruited for this online study through Prolific. Following the exclusion criteria from Studies 1 to 3, 15 participants were excluded for failing an attention check question, nine participants were excluded for reporting that they responded randomly during the study, and five participants who identified as non-binary were excluded from analyses. Furthermore, adopting an approach used by Vial et al. (2019, 2021), we also excluded seven participants that chose the candidate acting as a foil when selecting who should be hired for a position in STEM in our key dependent measure as this was taken as an indication of being inattentive to the candidates' credentials. Our final sample after exclusions was 565 participants (285 women, 280 men). Participants' age ranged from 18 to 78 years, with a mean of 40.79 (*SD* = 12.26). The sample was predominantly

White (85.7%), heterosexual (84.8%), and reported having obtained a bachelor's degree (39.6%) or high school diploma (34.5%) as their highest level of education (See Table 10). Participants received £1.25 administered through Prolific for completing the study. Our research question, hypotheses, data collection plan, exclusion criteria, and plan of analysis were pre-registered and can be found on OSF (https://osf.io/3zdbx/?view_only=1855b18a2a944886b9c919cf89933fa8).

Table 10.

	N	Percent		
Ethnicity				
Asian	37	6.5		
Black/African American	18	3.2		
Hispanic/Latino/South American	3	0.5		
Middle Eastern	0	0		
White/Caucasian	484	85.7		
Other	17	3.0		
Prefer not to answer	12	2.1		
Sexual Orientation				
Asexual	8	1.4		
Bisexual	39	6.9		
Heterosexual	479	84.8		
Homosexual	21	3.7		
Other	3	0.5		
Prefer not to say	14	2.5		
Education				
Some high school	8	1.4		
High school	195	34.5		
Bachelor's degree	224	39.6		
Master's degree	73	12.9		
Ph.D. or higher	17	3.0		
Graduate Diploma	12	2.1		
Post-graduate diploma	20	3.5		
Other	11	1.9		
Prefer not to say	5	0.9		

Sample Demographic Information Study 4

Design and Procedure. Like in Studies 1-3, participants were invited to take part in an online study regarding attitudes and opinions towards workplaces. Participants were exposed to the same policy manipulation (See Appendix A).

Dependent Measures.

Interpersonal Norms. After exposure to the manipulation, participants responded to one item assessing their beliefs about the interpersonal norms at the company: "At CCB, I believe that interactions among people of different genders would be characterized by respect and trust" ($1 = strongly \ disagree; 7 = strongly \ agree$).

Hiring Selection. Participants then completed a measure, adapted from Vial and colleagues (2021), to assess the likelihood of hiring a highly qualified female candidate over a male candidate with equal credentials. Participants first read a vignette in which they were asked to imagine that they are the hiring manager at CCB and are looking to fill the role for a software developer. It stated that the software developer will be working closely with various team members within the organization, so it is crucial that they are a good fit within the work culture. The passage emphasized that the applicant who is hired truly needs to be successful in the company or the hiring manager will experience personal consequences such as a poor reputation or loss of a promotion.

After reading the vignette, participants were presented with three profiles of potential job candidates. These profiles listed the candidates' name, previous work experience, and their educational background (See Appendix F for complete candidate profiles). Two of the three candidates were highly and equally qualified while the third was relatively unqualified (i.e., had the fewest years of relevant work experience) acting as a foil. The names of the two qualified applicants reflected stereotypically feminine and masculine names to convey their gender (e.g., "Mary" and "Brian"). The gender of the applicant acting as a foil was counterbalanced, and the order in which the profiles were presented to participants was randomized. Once the three profiles were presented to the participants, they were asked to rate their preference between each

set of candidates on a 9-point scale (e.g., "Between Mary and Brian, who would you select as the new software developer?"; I = Definitely Mary, 9 = Definitely Brian). After rating their preferences between the candidates, they were finally asked to select which of the candidates should be chosen as the new software developer at CCB.

Manipulation Check. After completing the key dependent measure, participants responded to the same manipulation check question used in Studies 1-3 to ensure the manipulation was effective in altering participants' perceptions of the gender-inclusive policies at CCB across conditions (i.e., "CCB has a large number of gender inclusive policies and practices.").

Attention check. Participants then responded to two attention check questions: "What was the name of the company you read about at the start of the study?" and "What type of company is CCB?". They then completed the memory test question used in Studies 1-3 to assess their ability to recall the gender-inclusive policies.

Demographics. Like our first three experiments, participants also provided demographic information (e.g., gender, age, ethnicity, etc.). A full list of the demographic questions can be found in Appendix I.

Results

Descriptive Statistics. Descriptive statistics and zero-order correlations were computed for all variables included in key analyses. A summary of these statistics can be found in Table 11.

			C C							
Variable	M	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. Condition			-0.03	-2.01						
2. Gender			-0.02	-2.01	.04					
3. Manipulation Check	4.88	1.77	-0.66	-0.73	.61***	01				
4. Policies Memory Test	75.1	23.5	-0.76	-0.13	.09*	.05	.08			
Interpersonal Norms	5.16	1.52	-0.98	0.20	.34***	03	.68***	.10*		
Candidate Preference	5.82	2.44	-0.45	-0.88	.11**	.09*	.05	.02	.06	
7. Final Hiring Selection			-0.69	-1.53	.10*	.07	.05	.09*	.06	.76***
Note * n < 05. ** n < 01	· *** n ~	001								

Table 11.Study 4 Descriptive Statistics and Correlations of Key Variables

Note. * p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001

Manipulation Check. First, we tested whether our manipulation was effective at altering participants' perceptions of the number of gender-inclusive policies present at the company. We performed an independent samples *t*-test to examine mean differences between the high and low inclusion conditions. Participants in the high inclusion condition reported significantly more gender-inclusive policies present at the company (M = 5.94, SE = 0.06) compared to those in the low inclusion condition (M = 3.78, SE = 0.10), t(450.35) = 18.15, p < .001, d = 1.54 (refer to Figure 13).

Figure 13.

Study 4 Manipulation Check



Note. Error bars represent the standard error.

Policies Memory Test. We then conducted a one sample *t*-test to assess participants' responses to the memory test question. We found that on average, participants correctly identified 75.07% of the policies that were in place at CCB which is significantly greater than chance, t(564) = 25.37, p < .001, d = 1.07, suggesting that participants were attentive to the study materials on average¹⁰.

Perception of interpersonal norms. Next, we examined participants' perception of the interpersonal norms at CCB. We performed a two-way ANOVA to analyze the effect of gender and condition on participants' perception of the interpersonal norms at the company. Results revealed that there was no main effect for gender, F(1, 561) = 1.21, p = .273; however, there was a significant main effect of condition, F(1, 561) = 75.61, p < .001, that was qualified by a significant condition by gender interaction, F(1, 561) = 6.24, p = .013 (refer to Figure 14). To be conservative, simple effects analyses were conducted using a Bonferroni correction, adjusting the significance level for the four comparisons being made. This approach means that the *p*-values below reach statistical significance at p < .0125.

These analyses revealed that both women and men anticipated more positive and inclusive interpersonal norms at a company with more rather than fewer gender-inclusive policies. However, women (low inclusion condition, M = 4.41, SE = 0.12; high inclusion condition, M = 5.75, SE = 0.12) were more strongly impacted by the manipulation, t(561) = -

¹⁰ An independent samples t-test was conducted to examine mean differences in the percent of policies correctly recalled by participants in the low and high inclusion condition. The analysis revealed that on average participants in the high inclusion condition recalled a significantly greater percentage of policies correctly (M = 77.05, SD = 22.64) compared to those in the low inclusion condition (M = 73.02, SD = 24.21), t(563) = -2.05, p = .041. Given this significant difference in the percentage of policies correctly recalled between conditions, we re-ran our primary analyses (i.e., the two-way ANOVAs predicting interpersonal norms and candidate preferences, and logistic regression predicting final hiring selection) with the policies memory test scores included as a covariate to ensure the main effect of condition remained significant. We found that the effect of the gender-inclusive policies on interpersonal norms, candidate preferences, and final hiring selection remained significant after controlling for participants scores on the policies memory test.

7.95, p < .001, compared to the men (low inclusion condition, M = 4.84, SE = 0.12; high inclusion condition, M = 5.58, SE = 0.12), t(561) = 4.37, p < .001. Further, men and women differed significantly in their perceptions of the interpersonal norms in the low inclusion condition, such that women reported significantly lower perceptions of positive interpersonal norms (M = 4.41, SE = 0.12) compared to men (M = 4.84, SE = 0.12), t(561) = 2.52, p = .003. In contrast, there was no significant difference between men (M = 5.58, SE = 0.12) and women (M = 5.75, SE = 0.12) in their perceptions of the interpersonal norms in the high inclusion condition, t(561) = 1.00, p = .080.

Figure 14.

Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Perceptions of Interpersonal Norms by Gender



Note. Error bars represent the standard error.

Candidate preferences. To test our predictions for participants' preferences between candidates, we ran a two-way ANOVA to examine the impact of condition and gender. We found a significant main effect for both condition, F(1, 561) = 6.98, p = .008, and gender, F(1, 561) = 4.15, p = .042. Results revealed that participants in the high inclusion condition reported

a significantly stronger preference for the qualified female candidate (M = 6.08, SE = 0.14) compared to those in the low inclusion condition (M = 5.54, SE = 0.15; see Figure 15). Further, it was found that women reported a stronger preference for the qualified female candidate (M =6.02, SE = 0.14) compared to men (M = 5.60, SE = 0.15) We did not find a significant condition by gender interaction, F(1, 561) = 1.38, p = .241.

Figure 15.

Effect of Condition on Candidate Preference





Final hiring selection. To examine the likelihood of participants choosing to hire the qualified female candidate in their final hiring selection, we conducted a 2-step hierarchical logistic regression on participants' final selection of a female candidate, which is a binary outcome. Condition and participants' gender were entered at step 1, followed by the condition by gender interaction term in step 2 of the regression model. We found a significant main effect of condition such that participants in the high inclusion condition were 1.5 times more likely to choose a female candidate as their final hiring selection compared to participants in the low

inclusion condition, b = 0.40, SE = 0.18, p = .025, OR = 1.50, 95% CI [1.05, 2.13]. On average, participants in the low inclusion condition had a probability of 0.62 of choosing to hire the qualified woman, while those in the high inclusion condition had a probability of 0.71 (See Figure 16). Gender did not significantly predict the probability of choosing to hire a qualified female candidate, b = 0.28, SE = 0.18, p = .117, OR = 1.33, 95% CI [0.93, 1.88]. We did not find a significant condition by gender interaction in predicting the probability of selecting the qualified female candidate in their final hiring decision, b = 0.52, SE = 0.36, p = .148, OR = 1.68, 95% CI [0.83, 3.41].

Figure 16.







Mediation. A mediation analysis was conducted to test the degree to which genderinclusive workplace policies impact participants' candidate preferences via their perceptions of the interpersonal norms at the company (see Figure 17). The analysis was conducted with Hayes' Process Macro (Model 4; Hayes, 2022) using 5000 bootstrap resamples to estimate the direct, indirect, and total effects. It was found that participants expected more positive interpersonal norms in the gender inclusive company (a = 1.04, 95% CI [0.80, 1.27], p < .001); however, anticipating a more positive interpersonal context did not predict candidate preferences (b = 0.04, 95% CI [-0.10, 0.18], p = .543). Further, the mediation model revealed no significant indirect effect of gender-inclusive policies on candidate preferences through perceptions of the interpersonal norms at CCB, ab = 0.04, 95% CI [-0.11, 0.20]. To see all of the estimates from these models, refer to Table 12. A moderated mediation analysis was conducted to assess whether there might be gender differences leading to this insignificant indirect effect. However, analyses revealed that gender was not a significant moderator, $b_{index of moderated mediation} = -0.16$, SE = 0.16, 95% CI [-0.48, 0.15]. The all path moderated mediation model can be found in the supplemental materials (see Appendix J).

Figure 17.

Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Candidate Preferences via Interpersonal Norms



Table 12.

	Candidate Preferences	Final Selection
Path a	1.04*** [0.80, 1.27]	1.04*** [0.80, 1.27]
Path b	0.04 [-0.10, 0.18]	0.04 [-0.08, 0.16]
Path c	0.56** [0.16, 0.96]	0.41* [0.06, 0.76]
Path c'	0.52* [0.09, 0.94]	0.37* [0.001, 0.75]

Mediation Model for Study 4

Note. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001. Coefficients denote the unstandardized beta. Values in the square brackets indicate the 95% confidence interval for each path estimate.

Finally, we conducted a mediation analysis to test the degree to which gender-inclusive workplace policies impact participants' final hiring selection via their perceptions of the interpersonal norms at the company (see Figure 18). Like our candidate preferences variable, we found that participants expected more positive interpersonal norms in the gender inclusive company (a = 1.04, 95% CI [0.80, 1.27], p < .001); however, anticipating a more positive interpersonal context did not predict final hiring selections (b = 0.04, 95% CI [-0.08, 0.16], p = .536). The model revealed no significant indirect effect of gender-inclusive policies on final hiring selections through perceptions of the interpersonal norms at CCB, ab = 0.04, 95% CI [-0.09, 0.17]. To see all of the estimates from these models, refer to Table 8. Again, a moderated mediation analysis was conducted to assess whether there might be gender differences leading to this insignificant indirect effect; however, gender was not found to be a significant moderator, $b_{index of moderated mediation} = -0.12$, SE = 0.14, 95% CI [-0.41, 0.15]. The all path moderated mediation model can be found in the supplemental materials (see Appendix J).

Figure 18.

Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Final Hiring Selection via Interpersonal Norms



Discussion

The goal of the present research was to 1) explore the benefits that institutional signals of inclusion can have on behaviour and opportunities for the self and others in STEM, and 2) understand the mechanism through which gender-inclusive workplace policies influence various organizational outcomes. In Studies 1-3, we aimed to understand the benefits that genderinclusive workplace policies can have for the self by examining their impact on perceptions of how possible it would be to behave inclusively in interpersonal interactions, fully and authentically express core aspect of your personal identity at work, and achieve professional goals. Across these three studies, we found that gender-inclusive workplace policies shape perceptions of the interpersonal norms within the company and create the expectation that interpersonal relationships and interactions will be characterized by respect, acceptance, and trust. This perception of a positive work culture led to stronger beliefs that it would be possible to behave inclusively, be your true authentic self at work, and successfully work towards achieving professional goals. Thus, our findings suggest that this relationship operates indirectly via positive perceptions of the interpersonal norms present within organizations. These three studies offer evidence to suggest that institutional signals of inclusion have significant benefits

for the self by shaping people's sense of what they can do at work and expanding individuals' beliefs about what is truly possible for themselves.

In Study 4, we tested whether these findings could extend to perceptions of what is possible for other people. We examined the benefit that gender-inclusive policies could have on hiring decisions in STEM. Specifically, we hypothesized that more gender-inclusive policies would result in a greater likelihood of hiring qualified women in STEM. We found that strong institutional signals of inclusion such as gender inclusive workplace policies led people to show a significant preference for hiring a qualified female candidate and significantly increased the probability of choosing to hire a qualified female candidate in the final decision of who should be selected for a position in STEM. This study demonstrated that institutional signals of inclusion soft what is possible for other people.

The present research expands on the theoretical ideas from Kalkstein and colleagues (2022) which suggests that social norms within a particular context can constrain or facilitate certain behaviours by altering what is perceived to be possible in specific environments. Our work demonstrates that institutional signals of inclusion, or gender-inclusive policies, can serve as a cue to the social norms present within an organization and indeed shape perceptions of what behaviours are perceived to be possible given the constraints of the workplace culture. The state of the workplace culture determines the socio-cultural climate of that organization and suggests what behaviours are afforded in that environment (Walton & Yeager, 2020). Thus, a more positive cultural climate expands individuals' perceptions of the behaviours that are afforded within that environment and offers opportunities to engage in behaviours that benefit the self and others. This work demonstrates that the theoretical ideas from Kalkstein and colleagues (2022), and Walton and Yeager (2020) on the influence of social norms and the socio-cultural context on

perceptions of what behaviours are possible or afforded within a particular context can be applied within an organizational setting to help cultivate spaces and environments in maledominated domains where individuals from traditionally marginalized groups can feel a greater sense of possibility and opportunities available for themselves and others.

Overall, when considering all four studies, it is evident that there is support for the hypothesis that institutional signals of inclusion can influence perceptions of what is possible for the self and others. Studies 1 through 3 demonstrate that gender-inclusive policies create expectations of a positive work culture characterized by inclusive interpersonal norms that expand individuals' perceptions of what is possible for the self such as behaving in an inclusive manner, being your true self, and achieving professional goals. Study 4 offers additional evidence that these signals of inclusion also impact perceptions of what is possible for other people and shape beliefs about who could be successful in STEM. Our research highlights the positive impact that institutional signals of inclusion can have on organizations by demonstrating the benefits of gender-inclusive policies on various workplace outcomes.

Limitations and Directions for Future Research

While our work offers initial evidence for the benefits that institutional signals of inclusion could have on workplaces in STEM, there are limitations that future research should address. First, as previously mentioned, across all four studies we recruited a sample of adults from Prolific. We did not limit our sample to individuals that work in STEM. As such, many of our participants reported that they do not work in STEM and thus, may not have had experience working in a male-dominated domain. Individuals without personal experience working in a male-dominated domain may perceive the STEM context or workplace culture differently than someone who has this experience and thus may respond differently to our study. Further, they may be less aware or conscious of the prejudice or discrimination that may occur towards individuals belonging to marginalized groups within these types of settings and may not fully grasp the benefit of having workplace policies to combat these issues. This may have impacted the external validity of our studies as we cannot be sure that our sample of participants accurately reflects the STEM workers demographic. Although, it is important to note that in each of our studies participants were introduced to a fictitious technology development company. Therefore, regardless of their current employment, the manipulation allowed participants to imagine that they were working within the STEM industry and provide answers based on working within a STEM context. Nevertheless, because our interest is in understanding the benefits that genderinclusive policies have on the work culture in STEM and related workplace outcomes, future research should attempt to replicate these findings in a sample of STEM workers. Additionally, future work could measure participants' specific educational background and program of study. There are likely several individuals that completed a STEM degree but chose to pursue careers in a different domain. Despite not currently working in the STEM sector, these individuals may still have unique insight into the research questions we aim to address. Collecting data from those who have experienced the masculine STEM culture first-hand would allow us to confirm that the effects we found generalize to those directly affected by the issues we study.

Another limitation of the present research is with regard to the country in which our sample of participants reside. As stated, we collected data from participants registered with Prolific. These individuals typically reside in the United States (US) and the United Kingdom (UK). However, there are differences in the family leave policies between these countries, with the UK being more progressive than the US (Elser et al., 2022; Raub et al., 2018). Therefore, it is possible that there may be systematic differences between these subsamples of participants. Those that live in the US may be less impacted by our low inclusion condition, as it may be more common or normative for companies to be lacking in gender-inclusive policies, whereas individuals living in the UK may perceive the low inclusion company to be especially bad given that it is more standard to have these progressive, gender-inclusive policies in the UK. Although we used random assignment to help reduce the likelihood of systematic differences existing between conditions, including participants' country of residence as a moderating variable in our analyses could allow for a better understanding of the effect. An analysis of the demographic information across all four studies revealed that majority of our participants resided in the UK; therefore, we were unable to test this interaction (see Appendix J). Further, given that our sample was predominantly individuals from the UK, it would be beneficial for future research to recruit a sample of only US participants to determine whether the effects found in the current research replicate. In addition, in a sample of all US participants, it would be interesting to examine potential differences between participants living in different states given the state level variability in family leave policies within the United States (Han et al., 2009).

Moreover, as reported in Study 4, we did not find a significant indirect effect of genderinclusive policies on candidate preferences or final hiring selections via perceived interpersonal norms. It may be the case that participants were more focused on making a hiring decision that resulted in selecting the candidate that would be the most successful within the company given that our study materials emphasized that failing to hire a candidate that was a good fit would result in personal consequences. With a greater focus being placed on hiring a candidate that would succeed within the company culture, participants may not have been thinking directly about the company's norms for interpersonal interactions between colleagues, but rather how successfully the candidate would integrate into their new role. Therefore, due to a lack of finding significant mediation in this study we are interested in further exploring other potential mechanisms involved in the relationship between institutional signals of inclusion and hiring decisions to gain better insight into how these inclusive signals benefit the hiring process. In future studies, we intend to explore other possible mediators, such as perceived success of the candidates or, individuals' desire to enact the values of the organization in their decision-making as potential mechanisms through which organizational policies impact candidate selection when hiring for a role in the STEM sector. We did not measure participants' perceived success of the candidates; however, it is possible that the degree to which the participant believed the candidate will succeed within the company could influence their preferences toward that candidate and their choice to hire them. Vial and colleagues (2019) offer support for perceived success as a possible mediator of this relationship. In their work on accommodating biases of relevant third parties in the hiring process, they found that participants' perceptions of how likely a candidate would be at getting along with others and completing tasks successfully significantly mediated the relationship between third party prejudice towards women and preferences toward hiring women in STEM. Therefore, it is likely that these findings may extend to our own research such that institutional signals of inclusion may suggest to participants that a woman could succeed in that environment, leading individuals to feel more comfortable and confident hiring a woman in STEM. Alternatively, it is possible that participants' desire to enact the inclusive values of an organization may influence hiring decisions. From our research and the body of existing literature on the power and influence of social norms, it is fair to assume that institutional signals of inclusion such as gender-inclusive policies signal the social norms present within an organization. Given that individuals generally adhere to norms and allow them to guide their behaviour, it is possible that individuals will choose to hire a woman candidate so that their

behaviour aligns with the inclusive values of the organization. Therefore, this desire to conform to the norms and behave in accordance with the presumed values of the organization may have strong implications for hiring decisions in STEM. Further research is evidently needed to determine the mechanism through which this relationship operates.

Lastly, the present work relied on self-report measures. Although our measures aimed to target participants' responses to hypothetical behaviours or anticipated experiences, we did not measure actual observable behaviour. Future research should employ methods that go beyond self-report to obtain data on real behaviour in a lab or field setting. For example, future studies could be conducted in a lab setting in which STEM majors are invited to participate in a collaborative task after reviewing an inclusive policies handbook or code of conduct. The interactions between the participants while completing the task would be coded for inclusive behaviours such as expressing interest in others' opinions and ideas, asking for input from others, and listening to others' concerns. A study of this nature would allow us to verify that our findings translate into real observable behaviour.

Conclusion

In the present work, we found evidence to suggest that signals of inclusion at the institutional level, such as inclusive workplace policies can have benefits for individuals. Signals of inclusion operate by creating expectations of a positive work culture that is characterized by inclusive interpersonal norms, which not only expand individuals' perceptions of what is possible for the self but can also open opportunities for other individuals of marginalized groups by expanding perceptions of what is possible for other people in male-dominated domains. Our work contributes to the existing body of literature on the power of social norms in shaping perceptions of possible future outcomes and behaviour. The findings from the current studies

have important implications for the attraction, retention, and success of women in STEM by offering empirical evidence to support strategies that can be implemented at the institutional level to create inclusive spaces that encourage positive interpersonal relationships within organizations. These results suggest that companies and businesses in STEM may benefit from demonstrating and encouraging inclusive values from the highest structures within the organization such as company wide policies and practices. Organizations that work to signal inclusion at the institutional level can demonstrate greater support for women in STEM and offer greater opportunities by shifting individuals' perspective of the possibilities available to themselves and others at work.

References

- Abrams, D., Wetherell, M., Cochrane, S., Hogg, M. A., & Turner, J. C. (1990). Knowing what to think by knowing who you are: Self-categorization and the nature of norm formation, conformity and group polarization. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 29(2), 97–119. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8309.1990.tb00892.x
- Berdahl, J. L., Cooper, M., Glick, P., Livingston, R. W., & Williams, J. C. (2018). Work as a masculinity contest. *Journal of Social Issues*, 74(3), 422–448. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12289
- Blay, A. D., Gooden, E. S., Mellon, M. J., & Stevens, D. E. (2016). The usefulness of social norm theory in empirical business ethics research: A review and suggestions for future research. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2738724
- Block, K., Hall, W. M., Schmader, T., Inness, M., & Croft, E. (2018). Should I stay or should I go? *Social Psychology*, *49*(4), 243–251.https://doi.org/10.1027/1864-9335/a000343
- Brady, L. M., Kaiser, C. R., Major, B., & Kirby, T. A. (2015). It's fair for us: Diversity structures cause women to legitimize discrimination. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 57, 100–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2014.11.010
- Cadaret, M. C., Hartung, P. J., Subich, L. M., & Weigold, I. K. (2017). Stereotype threat as a barrier to women entering engineering careers. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 99, 40– 51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2016.12.002
- Canning, E. A., Muenks, K., Green, D. J., & Murphy, M. C. (2019). STEM faculty who believe ability is fixed have larger racial achievement gaps and inspire less student motivation in their classes. *Science Advances*, 5(2), eaau4734. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aau4734

Canning, E. A., Murphy, M. C., Emerson, K. T. U., Chatman, J. A., Dweck, C. S., & Kray, L. J.

(2020). Cultures of genius at work: Organizational mindsets predict cultural norms, trust, and commitment. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *46*(4), 626–642. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167219872473

- Casad, B. J., & Bryant, W. J. (2016). Addressing stereotype threat is critical to diversity and inclusion in organizational psychology. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7.https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00008
- Chatman, J. A., & Cha, S. E. (2003). Leading by leveraging culture. *California Management Review*, 45(4), 20–34. https://doi.org/10.2307/41166186
- Cheryan, S., & Markus, H. R. (2020). Masculine defaults: Identifying and mitigating hidden cultural biases. *Psychological Review*, 127(6), 1022–1052. https://doi.org/10.1037/rev0000209
- Cheryan, S., Ziegler, S. A., Montoya, A. K., & Jiang, L. (2017). Why are some STEM fields more gender balanced than others? *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(1), 1–35. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000052
- Cialdini, R. B., & Trost, M. R. (1998). Social influence: Social norms, conformity and compliance. In D. T. Gilbert, S. T. Fiske, & G. Lindzey (Eds.), *The handbook of social psychology* (p. 151–192). McGraw-Hill.
- Cole, R., Oliver, A., & Blaviesciunaite, A. (2014). The changing nature of workplace culture. *Facilities*, *32*(13/14), 786–800. https://doi.org/10.1108/f-02-2013-0018
- Cyr, E. N., Bergsieker, H. B., Dennehy, T. C., & Schmader, T. (2021). Mapping social exclusion in STEM to men's implicit bias and women's career costs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 118(40). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2026308118

Dancy, M., Rainey, K., Stearns, E., Mickelson, R., & Moller, S. (2020). Undergraduates'

awareness of White and male privilege in STEM. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-020-00250-3

- Diekman, A. B., Clark, E. K., Johnston, A. M., Brown, E. R., & Steinberg, M. (2011).
 Malleability in communal goals and beliefs influences attraction to stem careers:
 Evidence for a goal congruity perspective. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *101*(5), 902–918. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025199
- Dover, T. L., Kaiser, C. R., & Major, B. (2019). Mixed signals: The unintended effects of diversity initiatives. Social Issues and Policy Review, 14(1), 152–181. https://doi.org/10.1111/sipr.12059
- Edmondson, A. C. (2019). *The fearless organization: Creating psychological safety in the workplace for learning, innovation, and growth.* John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Elser, H., Williams, C., Dow, W. H., & Goodman, J. M. (2022). Inequities in paid parental leave across industry and occupational class: Drivers and simulated policy remedies. SSM -*Population Health*, 18, 101045. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2022.101045
- Ferguson, S. (2016). Women in Canada: A gender-based statistical report, 7th edition. *Statistics Canada Catalogue* no. 89-503- X. Ottawa: Statistics Canada.
- Fouad, N. A., Chang, W.-H., Wan, M., Singh, R. (2017). Women's reasons for leaving the engineering field. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00875
- Frank, K. (2019). A gender analysis of the occupational pathways of STEM graduates in Canada. Analytical Studies Branch Research Paper Series.
- Frazier, M. L., Fainshmidt, S., Klinger, R. L., Pezeshkan, A., & Vracheva, V. (2016).
 Psychological safety: A meta-analytic review and extension. *Personnel Psychology*, 70(1), 113–165. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12183
- Garr-Schultz, A., & Gardner, W. (2018). Strategic self-presentation of women in STEM. Social Sciences, 7(2), 20. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci7020020
- Glick, P., Berdahl, J. L., & Alonso, N. M. (2018). Development and validation of the masculinity contest culture scale. *Journal of Social Issues*, 74(3), 449–476. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12280
- Goyer, J. P., Walton, G. M., & Yeager, D. S. (2021). The role of psychological factors and institutional channels in predicting the attainment of postsecondary goals. *Developmental Psychology*, 57(1), 73–86. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0001142
- Haine-Bennett, E., Bergsieker, H. B., Coe, I. R., Koch-Kraft, A., Langelier, E., Morrison, S.,
 Nikoleyczik, K., Schmader, T., Trivailo, O., Twine, S., & Decker, J. E. (2020). Enacting workplace culture change for excellence in research: A gender lens. *FACETS*, 5(1), 228–233. https://doi.org/10.1139/facets-2019-0026
- Hall, W. M., Schmader, T., & Croft, E. (2015). Engineering exchanges. Social Psychological and Personality Science, 6(5), 528–534. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550615572637
- Hall, W., Schmader, T., Aday, A., Inness, M., & Croft, E. (2018). Climate control: The relationship between social identity threat and cues to an identity-safe culture. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *115*(3), 446–467. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000137
- Hall, W., Schmader, T., Cyr, E. N., & Bergsieker, H. B. (2022). Collectively constructing gender-inclusive work cultures in STEM. *European Review of Social Psychology*, 1–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/10463283.2022.2109294
- Hall, W., Schmader, T., Inness, M., & Croft, E. (2021). Climate change: An increase in norms for inclusion predicts greater fit and commitment for women in STEM. *Group Processes*

& Intergroup Relations, 136843022110354. https://doi.org/10.1177/13684302211035438

- Han, W., Ruhm, C., & Waldfogel, J. (2009). Parental leave policies and parents' employment and leave-taking. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 28(1), 29–54. https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.20398
- Hayes, A. F. (2022). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach. The Guilford Press.
- Hecht, C., Yeager, D., Dweck, C., & Murphy, M. (2021). Beliefs, affordances, and adolescent development: Lessons from a decade of growth mindset interventions. In J. Lockman (Ed.), *Advances in Child Development and Behavior*.
- Heilman, M. E. (2001). Description and prescription: How gender stereotypes prevent women's ascent up the organizational ladder. *Journal of Social Issues*, 57(4), 657–674. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00234
- Heilman, M. E., & Caleo, S. (2018). Combatting gender discrimination: A lack of fit framework. Group Processes & Intergroup Relations, 21(5), 725–744. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430218761587
- Hughes, B. E., Smith, J. L., Bruun, M., Shanahan, E. A., Rushing, S., Intemann, K., Handley, I.
 M., Belou, R. M., Stoop, C., & Leila Belle Sterman. (2022). Department leaders as critical conduits for the advancement of gender equity programs. *Journal of Women and Gender in Higher Education*, 15(1), 41–64.

https://doi.org/10.1080/26379112.2022.2034122

Iyer, A., Zhang, A., Jetten, J., Hao, Z., & Cui, L. (2017). The promise of a better group future: Cognitive alternatives increase students' self-efficacy and academic performance. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 56(4), 750–765. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjso.12201

- Joshi, M. P., Benson-Greenwald, T. M., & Diekman, A. B. (2022). Unpacking motivational culture: Diverging emphasis on communality and agency across STEM domains. *Motivation Science*. https://doi.org/10.1037/mot0000276
- Kaiser, C. R., Major, B., Jurcevic, I., Dover, T. L., Brady, L. M., & Shapiro, J. R. (2013).
 Presumed fair: Ironic effects of organizational diversity structures. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 104(3), 504–519. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030838
- Kalkstein, D. A., Hook, C. J., Hard, B. M., & Walton, G. M. (2022). Social norms govern what behaviors come to mind—And what do not. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000412
- Kirby, T. A., Kaiser, C. R., & Major, B. (2015). Insidious procedures: diversity awards legitimize unfair organizational practices. *Social Justice Research*, 28(2), 169–186. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11211-015-0240-z
- Koc, Y., Gulseren, D., & Lyubykh, Z. (2021). Masculinity contest culture reduces organizational citizenship behaviors through decreased organizational identification. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*. https://doi.org/10.1037/xap0000351
- Kroeper, K. M., Williams, H. E., & Murphy, M. C. (2020). Counterfeit diversity: How strategically misrepresenting gender diversity dampens organizations' perceived sincerity and elevates women's identity threat concerns. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 122(3). https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000348
- Leslie, L. M. (2019). Diversity initiative effectiveness: A typological theory of unintended consequences. Academy of Management Review, 44(3). https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2017.0087

Leslie, S., Cimpian, A., Meyer, M., & Freeland, E. (2015). Expectations of brilliance underlie

gender distributions across academic disciplines. *Science*, *347*(6219), 262–265. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1261375

- Lombard, E. J., Azpeitia, J., & Cheryan, S. (2021). Built on uneven ground: How masculine defaults disadvantage women in political leadership. *Psychological Inquiry*, 32(2), 107– 116. https://doi.org/10.1080/1047840x.2021.1930776
- Manley, K., Sanders, K., Cardiff, S., & Webster , J. (2011). Effective workplace culture: The attributes, enabling factors and consequences of a new concept. *International Practice Development Journal*, 1(2), 1–29.
- Maranto, C. L., & Griffin, A. E. (2010). The antecedents of a "chilly climate" for women faculty in higher education. *Human Relations*, 64(2), 139–159. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726710377932
- Markus, H. R., & Kitayama, S. (2010). Cultures and selves: A cycle of mutual constitution.
 Perspectives on Psychological Science, 5(4), 420–430.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691610375557
- Markus, H., & Nurius, P. (1986). Possible selves. *American Psychologist*, 41(9), 954–969. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.41.9.954
- Matos, K., O'Neill, O. M., & Lei, X. (2018). Toxic leadership and the masculinity contest culture: How "win or die" cultures breed abusive leadership. *Journal of Social Issues*, 74(3), 500–528. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12284
- Meyer, M., Cimpian, A., & Leslie, S. (2015). Women are underrepresented in fields where success is believed to require brilliance. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00235

Murphy, M., & Walton, G. (2013). From prejudiced people to prejudiced places: A social-

contextual approach to prejudice. In C. Stangor & C. Crandall (Eds.), *Stereotyping and prejudice* (pp. 181–203). essay, Psychology Press.

- Murphy, M. C., Kroeper, K. M., & Ozier, E. M. (2018). Prejudiced places: How contexts shape inequality and how policy can change them. *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 5(1), 66–74. https://doi.org/10.1177/2372732217748671
- National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics (NCSES). (2023). *Diversity and STEM: Women, Minorities, and Persons with Disabilities*. https://ncses.nsf.gov/pubs/nsf23315/
- Raub, A., Nandi, A., Earle, A., De Guzman Chorny, N., Wong, E., Chung, P., Batra, P.,
 Schickedanz, A., Bose, B., Jou, J., Franken, D., & Heymann, J. (2018). Paid parental
 leave: A detailed look at approaches across OECD countries. *World Policy Analysis Center*.
- Rosser, S. V., & Lane, E. O. (2002). Key barriers for academic institutions seeking to retain female scientists and engineers: Family-unfriendly policies, low numbers, stereotypes, and harassment. *Journal of Women and Minorities in Science and Engineering*, 8(2),29. https://doi.org/10.1615/jwomenminorscieneng.v8.i2.40
- Rudman, L. A., & Glick, P. (2001). Prescriptive gender stereotypes and backlash toward agentic women. *Journal of Social Issues*, 57(4), 743–762. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00239

Schmader, T. (2022). Gender inclusion and fit in STEM. Annual Review of Psychology, 74(1).

Rudman, L. A., Moss-Racusin, C. A., Phelan, J. E., & Nauts, S. (2012). Status incongruity and backlash effects: Defending the gender hierarchy motivates prejudice against female leaders. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 48(1), 165–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2011.10.008

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-032720-043052

- Schmader, T., Bergsieker, H., & Hall, W. (2020). Cracking the culture code: A tri-level model for cultivating inclusion in organizations. In J. Forgas, W. Crano, & K. Fiedler (Eds.), *Applications of social psychology: How social psychology can contribute to the solution of real-world problems* (pp. 334–355). NY.
- Schmader, T., & Sedikides, C. (2017). State authenticity as fit to environment: The implications of social identity for fit, authenticity, and self-segregation. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 22(3), 228–259. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868317734080
- Schuster, C., Sparkman, G., Walton, G. M., Alles, A., & Loschelder, D. D. (2022). Egalitarian norm messaging increases human resources professionals' salary offers to women. *Journal of Applied Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0001033
- Seppälä, E., & Cameron, K. (2015). Proof That Positive Work Cultures Are More Productive. Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2015/12/proof-that-positive-work-cultures-aremore-productive
- Seron, C., Silbey, S. S., Cech, E., & Rubineau, B. (2015). Persistence is cultural: Professional socialization and the reproduction of sex segregation. *Work and Occupations*, 43(2), 178– 214. https://doi.org/10.1177/0730888415618728
- Steele, C., Spencer, S., & Aronson, J. (2002). Contending with group image: The psychology of stereotype and social identity threat. In M. P. Zanna (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology* (Vol. 34, pp. 379–440). Academic.
- Thoman, D. B., Brown, E. R., Mason, A. Z., Harmsen, A. G., & Smith, J. L. (2014). The role of altruistic values in motivating underrepresented minority students for biomedicine. *BioScience*, 65(2), 183–188. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biu199

- Van den Brink, M., & Stobbe, L. (2014). The support paradox: Overcoming dilemmas in gender equality programs. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, 30(2), 163–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scaman.2013.07.001
- van Veelen, R., Derks, B., & Endedijk, M. D. (2019). Double trouble: How being outnumbered and negatively stereotyped threatens career outcomes of women in STEM. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00150
- Vial, A. C., Bosak, J., Flood, P. C., & Dovidio, J. F. (2021). Individual variation in role construal predicts responses to third-party biases in hiring contexts. *PLOS ONE*, 16(2), e0244393. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0244393
- Vial, A. C., Brescoll, V. L., & Dovidio, J. F. (2019). Third-party prejudice accommodation increases gender discrimination. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 117(1), 73–98. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000164
- Vial, A. C., Muradoglu, M., Newman, G. E., & Cimpian, A. (2022). An emphasis on brilliance fosters masculinity-contest cultures. *Psychological Science* (0956-7976), 1. https://doi.org/10.1177/09567976211044133
- Walton, G. M., & Yeager, D. S. (2020). Seed and soil: Psychological affordances in contexts help to explain where wise interventions succeed or fail. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 29(3), 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721420904453

Appendices Table of Contents

Appendix A: Company Policies74
Appendix B: Measure of Perceived Interpersonal Norms
Appendix C: Key Dependent Measure for Study 177
Appendix D: Key Dependent Measure for Study 2
Appendix E: Key Dependent Measure for Study 3
Appendix F: Key Dependent Measures for Study 480
Appendix G: Manipulation Check
Appendix H: Attention Check
Appendix I: Demographic Questions
Appendix J: Supplemental Materials

Appendix A: Company Policies

High Inclusion Condition



Low Inclusion Condition



Appendix B: Measure of Perceived Interpersonal Norms

Perceived Interpersonal Norms

At CCB, I believe that interactions among people of different genders would be characterized by respect and trust.

Item will be rated on a 1-7 scale (1 = Strongly disagree; 7 = Strongly agree)

Appendix C: Key Dependent Measure for Study 1

Measure of Possibility for Inclusive Behaviour

You have probably had the experience of working with other people and wanting to make sure that they feel welcome.

We are interested in understanding the things you do at work to help people feel like they are trusted, respected, and welcome.

Take a moment and come up with three behaviours you might engage in to help someone you are working with feel trusted, respected, and welcome.

Behaviour #1 _____

Behaviour #2 _____

Behaviour #3 _____

To what degree would CCB's work culture make it possible for you to engage in each of these behaviours? (1 = Impossible; 5 = Extremely Possible)

- 1. Behaviour #1
- 2. Behaviour #2
- 3. Behaviour #3

Appendix D: Key Dependent Measure for Study 2

Measure of Possibility for Authentic Self-Expression

You may have had the experience of working in an environment where you felt that you could be your true authentic self. Or, you may have had the opposite experience where you felt you needed to hide who you truly are.

We are interested in understanding what is important to you in terms of expressing yourself authentically at work.

Please list three core aspects of your personal identity that you hope would be accepted by others at your place of work.

Core Identity Aspect #1 _____

Core Identity Aspect #2

Core Identity Aspect #3

Please rate the degree to which you think CCB's work culture would make it possible for you to fully and authentically express each aspect of your personal identity. (1 = Impossible; 5 = Extremely Possible)

- 1. Core Identity Aspect #1
- 2. Core Identity Aspect #2
- 3. Core Identity Aspect #3

Appendix E: Key Dependent Measure for Study 3

Measure of Possibility for Professional Goals

We are interested in understanding the things you do at work to demonstrate competence..

Please list three behaviours, actions or tasks you might perform in an office setting that would demonstrate that you are a competent employee and help you move towards professional goals.

Behaviour #1 _____

Behaviour #2 _____

Behaviour #3 _____

Please rate the degree to which you think CCB's work culture would make it possible for you to engage in each of these behaviours, actions, or tasks. (1 = Impossible; 5 = Extremely Possible)

- 1. Behaviour #1
- 2. Behaviour #2
- 3. Behaviour #3

Appendix F: Key Dependent Measures for Study 4

Hiring Selection Instructions and Materials

Now, we would like you to imagine that YOU are the hiring manager at CCB and looking to fill the position of a software developer.

As part of the role, the software developer will work closely with team members at various levels within the corporation to design, program and test software for the company and their clients. The software developer will also be responsible for leading team meetings and supervising the junior level developers. As CCB is still in the process of growing their clientele, the future of the organization will depend on whether the software developer succeeds.

You are currently in the running for a promotion. However, YOUR success in attaining this promotion, depends critically on the success of the software developer you select.

Next, you will see the profiles of 3 candidates for you to consider for the position of a software developer at CCB. The candidate you select must be a good fit for CCB. If the candidate you hire does not perform well, or does not fit within the work culture, your reputation could be at stake, and your promotion may be in jeopardy.

Please review the profiles carefully to ensure you can make an informed decision. You will be asked to rate your preference between the candidates and make a final selection as to which of the candidates should be appointed to the position.

[Depending on counterbalancing condition, participants will see ONE of the following candidate lineups – the order of presentation will be counterbalanced, as well as which set of credentials belonged to "Mary R." and to "Brian N."]:





Measure of Candidate Preferences

Imagine that YOU are the hiring manager at CCB and are looking to fill a software developer position.

The following questions ask who you would choose to fill a software developer position at CCB.

Between MARY R. and BRIAN N. who would you select as the new software developer?

(1 = Definitely MARY R.; 7 = Definitely BRIAN N)

Between MARY R. and JOHN S. (ANN S.) who would you select as the new software developer?

(1 = Definitely MARY R.; 7 = Definitely JOHN S. (ANN S.))

Between BRIAN N. and JOHN S. (ANN S.) who would you select as the new software developer?

(1 = Definitely BRIAN N.; 7 = Definitely JOHN S. (ANN S.))

Measure of Candidate Final Selection

Now, please make your final selection.

Which of the candidates should be chosen as the new software developer at CCB?

(1 = MARY R.; 2 = BRIAN N.; 3 = JOHN S. (ANN S.))

Appendix G: Manipulation Check

Perception of Gender Inclusive Policies

At CCB, I believe that interactions among people of different genders would be characterized by respect and trust (*1=Strongly Disagree; 7 = Strong Agree*).

Appendix H: Attention Check

Policies Memory Test

The following question is designed to test your memory for the policies and practices present at CCB. Please select the boxes to indicate if a policy/practice was listed as present at CCB on the infographic that you read.

Policy	Present at CCB
Equipment and facilities are gender appropriate	
Supervisors accountable for providing equal support to both genders	
Work schedules, job titles, and work conditions inclusive of both genders	
Family friendly work programs (e.g. paid parental leave)	
Programs and workshops to create cultural norms for positive working relations between genders	
Reimbursements for relevant classes or degree programs	
Work- abroad program	
Discounted fitness center memberships	
Customized ergonomics of workspace	
Whistleblower policy to protect employees	
Regular company retreats.	

Attention Check Questions

What was the name of the company you read about at the start of the study?

- CCB
- GGC
- AOM
- SPS

 $\label{eq:compared} What \ type \ of \ company \ is \ \{q://QID96/ChoiceGroup/SelectedChoices\}?$

- Finance
- Marketing
- Tech
- Construction

Appendix I: Demographic Questions

Finally, we would like to know some basic information about you. Please answer the following questions.

Your age: _____ yrs.

Your gender: Male / Female/ I identify as _____

Ethnic Background (please tick any that apply):

- Aboriginal/Indigenous Peoples of Canada
- Asian
- Black/African-American
- Hispanic/Latino/South American
- Middle Eastern
- White/Caucasian/European Immigrant to Canada
- Other (please specify): _____
- Prefer not to answer

Sexual Orientation (please tick any that apply):

- Asexual
- Bisexual
- Don't know
- Heterosexual
- Homosexual
- Other (please specify): _____
- Prefer not to answer

What is the highest level of education you have completed?

- Some High School
- High School
- Bachelor's Degree
- Master's Degree
- Ph.D. or higher
- Graduate Diploma
- Other: _____
- Prefer not to say

Are you currently employed?

- Yes
- No

Do you work in STEM?

- Yes
- No

Do you work in an office setting?

- Yes
- No

Appendix J: Supplemental Materials

Study 1

Additional Analyses

Effectiveness of inclusive behaviour responses. To ensure there was not a significant gender or condition discrepancy in the effectiveness of the behaviours participants provided, we had two research assistants, blind to participants gender and condition, code how effective the behaviours would be at making someone feel trusted, respected, and welcome at work. The ratings were made on a 7-point scale ranging from 1 = very ineffective to 7 = very effective. We calculated a composite score for the two sets of ratings provided by the research assistants (ICC = .68) and ran a two-way ANOVA to examine to effect of gender and condition. Results revealed no significant main effect of condition, F(1, 501) = 0.39, p = .533, or gender, F(1, 501) = 0.65, p = .420. Further, no significant interaction was found between gender and condition on ratings of the effectiveness of the behaviours provided by the participants, F(1, 501) = 0.02, p = .904. These results suggest that the effectiveness of the behaviours provided by gender, condition or the interaction.

Moderated Mediation. We tested a moderated mediation model to assess whether the indirect effect of gender-inclusive workplace policies on beliefs regarding the possibility of engaging in inclusive behaviour via perceptions of positive interpersonal norms was moderated by gender (see Figure 19). Using Hayes Process Macro (Model 59; Hayes, 2022), we assessed the effects of moderation of gender (men coded as 0; women coded as 1) on 1) the relationship between gender inclusive policies and beliefs regarding the possibility of engaging in inclusive behaviour (path c); 2) the relationship between gender-inclusive workplace policies and perceptions of interpersonal norms (path a); 3) the relationship between perceptions of

interpersonal norms and beliefs regarding the possibility of engaging in inclusive behaviour (path *b*). Analyses revealed significant indirect effects for both men (ab = 0.22, 95% CI [0.12, 0.33]) and women (ab = 0.40, 95% CI [0.27, 0.56]). Tests of moderated mediation suggested that the indirect effect for women was significantly larger than for men, $b_{index of moderated mediation} = 0.18, SE = 0.09, 95\%$ CI [0.01, 0.38]. To see all of the estimates from these models, refer to Table 13.

Figure 19.

Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility for Inclusive Behaviour via Interpersonal Norms Moderated by Gender



Table 13.

Moderated Mediation Model from Study 1

	Women	Men	Interaction
Path a	1.28*** [0.95, 1.61]	0.85*** [0.52, 1.18]	0.43 [-0.04, 0.90]
Path b	0.31*** [0.26, 0.37]	0.26*** [0.20, 0.32]	0.06 [-0.03, 0.14]
Path c	0.27** [0.08, 0.45]	0.02 [-0.17, 0.20]	0.25 [-0.01, 0.51]
Path c'	-0.14 [-0.31, 0.04]	-0.20* [-0.39, -0.03]	0.07 [-0.18, 0.31]

Note. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001. Coefficients denote the unstandardized beta. Values in the square brackets indicate the 95% confidence interval for each path estimate.

Study 2

Additional Analyses

Extent to which identities could experience marginalization. To examine the possible gender or condition effects on the types of identities listed by participants, we had two research assistants, blind to participants' gender and condition, code the extent to which the identities could experience marginalization. The ratings were made on a 7-point scale ranging from 1 = Definitely could not experience marginalization to 7 = Definitely could experience marginalization. We calculated a composite score for the two sets of ratings provided by the research assistants (ICC = .87) and ran a two-way ANOVA to examine the effect of condition and gender on the extent to which the identities listed could experience marginalization. We found no statistically significant interaction between gender and condition on ratings of the extent to which the identities could experience marginalization, F(1, 499) = 0.10, p = .755. Likewise, there was no significant main effect of condition, F(1, 499) = 3.05, p = .081; however, we did find a significant main effect of gender on the extent to which the identities listed by participants could experience marginalization, F(1, 502) = 9.71, p = .002. The analyses revealed that on average, women (M = 1.82, SE = 0.11) were listing identities that had a greater likelihood of experiencing marginalization compared to men (M = 1.34, SE = 0.11).

Study 3

Additional Analyses

Effectiveness of Professional Goal Behaviours. To examine the effectiveness of the behaviours provided by the participants, two research assistants, blind to participants gender and condition, coded how effective the behaviours would be at demonstrating competence in an

office setting and help achieve professional goals. The ratings were made on a 7-point scale ranging from 1 = very ineffective to 7 = very effective. We calculated a composite score for the two sets of ratings provided by the research assistants (ICC = .73) and ran a two-way ANOVA to examine to effect of gender and condition. Results revealed no significant main effect of condition, F(1, 486) = 1.65, p = .199, or gender, F(1, 486) = 2.05, p = .153. Further, no significant interaction was found between gender and condition on ratings of the effectiveness of the behaviours provided by the participants, F(1, 486) = 0.03, p = .864. These results suggest that the effectiveness of the behaviours provided by participants on our key dependent measure were not significantly impacted by gender, condition, or the interaction.

Moderated Mediation. We tested a moderated mediation model to assess whether the indirect effect of gender-inclusive workplace policies on beliefs regarding the possibility of achieving professional goals via perceptions of positive interpersonal norms was moderated by gender (see Figure 20). Using Hayes Process Macro (Model 59; Hayes, 2022), we assessed the effects of moderation of gender (men coded as 0; women coded as 1) on 1) the relationship between gender inclusive policies and beliefs regarding the possibility of achieving professional goals; 2) the relationship between gender-inclusive workplace policies and perceptions of interpersonal norms; 3) the relationship between perceptions of interpersonal norms and beliefs regarding the possibility of achieving professional goals. Analyses revealed significant indirect effects for both men (ab = 0.29, 95% CI [0.19, 0.42]) and women (ab = 0.37, 95% CI [0.24, 0.52]). However, tests of moderated mediation revealed that the indirect effect was not moderated by gender, b_{index} of moderated mediation = 0.07, SE = 0.09, 95% CI [-0.11, 0.25]. To see all of the estimates from these models, refer to Table 14.

Figure 20.

Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Possibility of Achieving Professional Goals via Interpersonal Norms Moderated by Gender



Table 14.

Moderated Mediation Model from Study 3

	Women	Men	Interaction
Path a	1.51*** [1.16, 1.86]	1.33*** [0.98, 1.68]	0.19 [-0.31, 0.68]
Path b	0.24*** [0.19, 0.30]	0.22*** [0.16, 0.28]	0.02 [-0.07, 0.10]
Path c	0.29** [0.11, 0.47]	0.12 [-0.06, 0.30]	0.17 [-0.09, 0.43]
Path c'	-0.08 [-0.26, 0.11]	-0.18 [-0.36, 0.01]	0.10 [-0.16, 0.36]

Note. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001. Coefficients denote the unstandardized beta. Values in the square brackets indicate the 95% confidence interval for each path estimate.

Study 4

Additional Analyses

Moderated mediation of candidate preferences. We tested a moderated mediation model to assess whether there might be gender differences leading to the insignificant indirect effect of gender-inclusive policies on participants candidate preferences via perceptions of interpersonal norms (see Figure 21). Using Hayes Process Macro (Model 59; Hayes, 2022), we

assessed the effects of moderation of gender (men coded as 0; women coded as 1) on 1) the relationship between gender inclusive policies and participants preferences between the candidates (path *c*); 2) the relationship between gender-inclusive workplace policies and perceptions of interpersonal norms (path *a*); 3) the relationship between perceptions of interpersonal norms and candidate preferences (path *b*). Analyses revealed no significant indirect effects for men (ab = 0.10, 95% CI [-0.06, 0.29]) or women (ab = -0.06, 95% CI [-0.33, 0.21]). Further, tests of moderated mediation revealed that gender was not a significant moderator, b_{index} of moderated mediation = -0.16, SE = 0.16, 95% CI [-0.48, 0.15]. To see all of the estimates from these models, refer to Table 15.

Figure 21.

Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Candidate Preferences via Interpersonal Norms Moderated by Gender



Table 15.

	Women	Men	Interaction
Candidate Preferences			
Path a	1.34*** [1.01, 1.67]	0.74*** [0.41, 1.07]	0.60* [0.13, 1.07]
Path b	-0.05 [-0.24, 0.15]	0.13 [-0.08, 0.34]	-0.18 [-0.46, 0.11]
Path c	0.78** [0.21, 1.34]	0.30 [-0.27, 0.87]	0.48 [-0.32, 1.28]
Path c'	0.84** [0.22, 1.46]	0.20 [-0.39, 0.79]	0.64 [-0.22, 1.49]
Final Hiring Selection			
Path a	1.34*** [1.01, 1.67]	0.74*** [0.41, 1.07]	0.60* [0.13, 1.07]
Path b	-0.03 [-0.21, 0.15]	0.11 [-0.07, 0.27]	-0.14 [-0.38, 0.11]
Path c	0.67* [0.16, 1.18]	0.15 [-0.34, 0.64]	0.52 [-0.19, 1.23]
Path c'	0.72* [0.16, 1.28]	0.08 [-0.43, 0.58]	0.64 [-0.11, 1.39]

Moderated Mediation Model for Study 4

Note. p < .05; p < .01; p < .01; p < .001. Coefficients denote the unstandardized beta. Values in the square brackets indicate the 95% confidence interval for each path estimate.

Moderated mediation of final hiring selection. Again, Hayes Process Macro (Model 59; Hayes, 2022) was used to assess the effects of moderation of gender (men coded as 0; women coded as 1) on 1) the relationship between gender inclusive policies and participants final hiring selection (path *c*); 2) the relationship between gender-inclusive workplace policies and perceptions of interpersonal norms (path *a*); 3) the relationship between perceptions of interpersonal norms and participants final hiring selection (path *b*; see Figure 22). Analyses revealed no significant indirect effects for men (*ab* = 0.08, 95% CI [-0.05, 0.24]) or women (*ab* = -0.04, 95% CI [-0.28, 0.19]). Further, tests of moderated mediation revealed that gender was not a significant moderator, b_{index of moderated mediation} = -0.12, *SE* = 0.14, 95% CI [-0.41, 0.15]. To see all of the estimates from these models, refer to Table 15.

Figure 22.

Indirect Effect of Gender-Inclusive Policies on Final Hiring Selection via Interpersonal Norms Moderated by Gender



Overall

Participants' Country of Residence. Given the discrepancies on family leave policy between the US and UK (Elser et al., 2022; Raub et al., 2018), we were interested in performing exploratory analyses to examining the potential differences in the effect of condition on our key outcomes between participants currently residing in the United States vs. the United Kingdom. However, as shown in Table 16, there was a large imbalance of participants recruited from each country, with majority of participants residing in the UK (UK participants, M = 90.6%; US participants, M = 8.8%). Due to this limitation, we were unable to adequately test for moderation by country. In the future, we plan to collect a sample of US participants to verify that the key findings from our studies replicate.

Table 16.

Participants' Country of Residence

	N	Percent
Study 1		
United Kingdom	436	86.2
United States	64	12.6
Australia	1	0.2
Hungary	1	0.2
Japan	1	0.2
No Data Available	3	0.6
Study 2		
United Kingdom	480	95.4
United States	21	4.2
No Data Available	2	0.4
tudy 3		
United Kingdom	407	83.1
United States	83	16.9
Study 4		
United Kingdom	552	97.7
United States	9	1.6
No Data Available	4	0.7